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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

Item 1. Financial Statements
 
   

June 30,
2015   

December 31,
2014  

   (Unaudited)     
Assets    

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 239,988   $ 283,680  
Accounts receivable:    

Billed receivables    419,906    381,464  
Unbilled receivables    298,964    248,462  
Allowance for doubtful accounts and unbilled services    (169,570)   (144,825) 

         

Accounts receivable, net    549,300    485,101  
Current portion of notes receivable    36,281    27,208  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    53,727    60,852  
Current portion of deferred tax assets    25,127    27,332  

         

Total current assets    904,423    884,173  
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation    80,527    82,163  
Goodwill    1,208,508    1,211,689  
Other intangible assets, net of amortization    70,356    77,034  
Notes receivable, net of current portion    120,076    122,149  
Other assets    53,174    53,319  

         

Total assets   $2,437,064   $ 2,430,527  
         

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other   $ 90,083   $ 99,494  
Accrued compensation    183,416    220,959  
Current portion of long-term debt    11,000    11,000  
Billings in excess of services provided    30,122    35,639  

         

Total current liabilities    314,621    367,092  
Long-term debt, net of current portion    700,000    700,000  
Deferred income taxes    161,534    161,932  
Other liabilities    97,327    98,757  

         

Total liabilities    1,273,482    1,327,781  
         

Commitments and contingent liabilities (note 10)    
Stockholders’ equity    

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; shares authorized—5,000; none outstanding    —      —    
Common stock, $0.01 par value; shares authorized—75,000; shares issued and outstanding—41,807 (2015) and

41,181 (2014)    418    412  
Additional paid-in capital    415,793    393,174  
Retained earnings    834,823    789,428  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (87,452)   (80,268) 

         

Total stockholders’ equity    1,163,582    1,102,746  
         

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $2,437,064   $ 2,430,527  
         

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Unaudited
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
Revenues   $449,137   $ 454,324   $ 881,475   $ 879,876  

                 

Operating expenses      
Direct cost of revenues    291,469    295,549    570,499    569,824  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    109,045    107,032    211,259    215,419  
Special charges    —      9,364    —      9,364  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,538)   (5)   (1,304)   (1,848) 
Amortization of other intangible assets    3,007    3,452    6,019    8,068  

                 

   401,983    415,392    786,473    800,827  
                 

Operating income    47,154    38,932    95,002    79,049  
                 

Other income (expense)      
Interest income and other    950    1,448    813    2,451  
Interest expense    (12,473)   (12,908)   (24,841)   (25,563) 

                 

   (11,523)   (11,460)   (24,028)   (23,112) 
                 

Income before income tax provision    35,631    27,472    70,974    55,937  
Income tax provision    13,922    10,225    25,579    20,573  

                 

Net income   $ 21,709   $ 17,247   $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
                 

Earnings per common share—basic   $ 0.53   $ 0.43   $ 1.12   $ 0.89  
                 

Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.52   $ 0.42   $ 1.09   $ 0.87  
                 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense of $0   $ 13,298   $ 7,694   $ (7,184)  $ 12,422  

                 

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    13,298    7,694    (7,184)   12,422  
                 

Comprehensive income   $ 35,007   $ 24,941   $ 38,211   $ 47,786  
                 

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands)

Unaudited
 
  Common Stock   Additional

Paid-in
Capital  

 
Retained
Earnings  

 
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

(Loss)  

 

Total    Shares   Amount     
Balance December 31, 2014   41,181   $ 412   $393,174   $789,428   $ (80,268)  $1,102,746  
Net income   —      —      —      45,395    —      45,395  
Other comprehensive income (loss):       

Cumulative translation adjustment   —      —      —      —      (7,184)   (7,184) 
Issuance of common stock in connection with:       

Exercise of options, net of income tax impact from share-based
awards of $2,599   562    6    13,717    —      —      13,723  

Restricted share grants, less net settled shares of 102   64    —      (3,803)   —      —      (3,803) 
Stock units issued under incentive compensation plan   —      —      2,124    —      —      2,124  

Share-based compensation   —      —      10,581    —      —      10,581  
                        

Balance June 30, 2015   41,807   $ 418   $415,793   $834,823   $ (87,452)  $1,163,582  
                        

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Unaudited
 
   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014  
Operating activities    

Net income   $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization    15,111    18,138  
Amortization of other intangible assets    6,019    8,068  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,304)   (1,848) 
Provision for doubtful accounts    6,571    8,671  
Non-cash share-based compensation    10,581    15,194  
Non-cash interest expense    1,343    1,348  
Other    (223)   (368) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:    

Accounts receivable, billed and unbilled    (70,710)   (115,787) 
Notes receivable    (6,626)   (22,559) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    (5,120)   8,860  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other    (2,435)   2,645  
Income taxes    16,458    4,832  
Accrued compensation    (40,587)   (47,418) 
Billings in excess of services provided    (5,204)   7,756  

         

Net cash used in operating activities    (30,731)   (77,104) 
         

Investing activities    
Payments for acquisition of businesses, net of cash received    (576)   (15,611) 
Purchases of property and equipment    (17,533)   (21,778) 
Other    64    (6) 

         

Net cash used in investing activities    (18,045)   (37,395) 
         

Financing activities    
Payment of debt financing fees    (3,090)   —    
Purchase and retirement of common stock    —      (4,367) 
Net issuance of common stock under equity compensation plans    8,662    (2,692) 
Deposits    2,423    11,580  
Other    (326)   (891) 

         

Net cash provided by financing activities    7,669    3,630  
         

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (2,585)   (552) 
         

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (43,692)   (111,421) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    283,680    205,833  

         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $239,988   $ 94,412  
         

Supplemental cash flow disclosures    
Cash paid for interest   $ 23,047   $ 23,541  
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds    9,121    15,743  

Non-cash investing and financing activities:    
Issuance of stock units under incentive compensation plans    2,124    1,674  

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar and share amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Unaudited

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of FTI Consulting, Inc., including its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company,” “we,” “our” or “FTI Consulting”) presented herein, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) and under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial information. Some of
the information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those rules and
regulations. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. In management’s opinion, the interim financial
statements reflect all adjustments that are necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented. All adjustments made were normal
recurring accruals. Results of operations for the interim periods presented herein are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for a full year. These
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014.

2. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per common share adjust basic earnings per common share for the effects of potentially dilutive common shares. Potentially dilutive
common shares include the dilutive effects of shares issuable under our equity compensation plans, including stock options and restricted stock, each using
the treasury stock method.
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,    

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Numerator—basic and diluted         

Net income   $21,709    $17,247    $45,395    $35,364  
                    

Denominator         
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic    40,792     39,681     40,607     39,560  
Effect of dilutive stock options    451     288     414     322  
Effect of dilutive restricted shares    453     781     508     722  

                    

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted    41,696     40,750     41,529     40,604  
                    

Earnings per common share—basic   $ 0.53    $ 0.43    $ 1.12    $ 0.89  
                    

Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.52    $ 0.42    $ 1.09    $ 0.87  
                    

Antidilutive stock options and restricted shares    1,524     3,637     1,849     3,408  
                    

3. New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03, Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements. ASU 2015-03 requires an entity to present
such costs in the balance sheet
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as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Amortization of the costs will continue to be reported as interest expense. It is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The new guidance will be applied retrospectively to
each prior period presented. We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheets.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, or ASU 2014-09, which requires a company to recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods
or services. On July 9, 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of the standard by one year which would result in the new standard being effective for the
Company at the beginning of its first quarter of fiscal year 2018. We have not evaluated the impact of the new standard, including possible transition
alternatives, on the Company’s financial statements.

4. Special Charges

There were no special charges recorded during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015.

During the three months ended June 30, 2014, we recorded special charges totaling $9.4 million, of which $0.6 million was non-cash. The charges
consisted of $7.9 million related to the termination of the Company’s corporate airplane lease and $1.5 million related to the closure of the Company’s West
Palm Beach executive office and related lease termination.

The total cash outflow associated with the special charges recorded in 2014, 2013 and 2012 is expected to be $65.1 million, of which $50.8 million has
been paid as of June 30, 2015. Approximately $2.2 million is expected to be paid during the remainder of 2015, $3.3 million is expected to be paid in 2016,
$3.1 million is expected to be paid in 2017, $2.7 million is expected to be paid in 2018, and the remaining balance of $3.0 million will be paid from 2019 to
2025. A liability for the current and noncurrent portions of the amounts to be paid is included in “Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other” and “Other
liabilities,” respectively, on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Activity related to the liability for these costs for the six months ended June 30, 2015 is as follows:
 

   

Employee
Termination

Costs   
Lease
Costs   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2014   $ 13,759   $4,854   $18,613  
Payments    (3,680)   (496)  $ (4,176) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment and other    (168)   —     $ (168) 

             

Balance at June 30, 2015   $ 9,911   $4,358   $14,269  
             

5. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Unbilled Services

We record adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts and unbilled services as a reduction in revenue when there are changes in estimates of fee
reductions that may be imposed by bankruptcy courts and other regulatory institutions, for both billed and unbilled receivables. The allowance for doubtful
accounts and unbilled services is also adjusted after the related work has been billed to the client and we discover that collectability is not reasonably assured.
These adjustments are recorded to “Selling, general and administrative expenses” on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and
totaled $3.6 million and $6.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, and $4.2 million and $8.7 million for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.
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6. Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs related to software development totaled $4.8 million and $10.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30,
2015, respectively, and $4.6 million and $9.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. Research and development costs are
included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

7. Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We consider the recorded value of certain financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts
payable, to approximate the fair value of the respective assets and liabilities at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, based on the short-term nature of the
assets and liabilities. The fair value of our long-term debt at June 30, 2015 was $740.5 million compared to a carrying value of $711.0 million. At
December 31, 2014, the fair value of our long-term debt was $735.0 million compared to a carrying value of $711.0 million. We determine the fair value of
our long-term debt primarily based on quoted market prices for our 63/4% Senior Notes Due 2020 (“2020 Notes”) and 6.0% Senior Notes Due 2022 (“2022
Notes,” and together with the 2020 Notes, the “Senior Notes”). The fair value of our long-term debt is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy,
because it is traded in less active markets.

For business combinations consummated on or after January 1, 2009, we estimate the fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration based
on the present value of the consideration expected to be paid during the remainder of the earnout period, based on management’s assessment of the acquired
operations’ forecasted earnings. This fair value measure is based on significant inputs not observed in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement.
Fair value measurements characterized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are measured based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no
market activity and reflect our own assumptions in measuring fair value.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements of our acquisition-related contingent consideration include our measures of the
future profitability and related cash flows of the acquired business or assets, impacted by appropriate discount rates. Significant increases (decreases) in any
of these inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement. Generally, a change in the assumptions used for the discount
rates is accompanied by a directionally opposite change in the fair value measurement and a change in the assumptions used for the future cash flows is
accompanied by a directionally similar change in the fair value measurement. The fair value of the contingent consideration is reassessed on a quarterly basis
by the Company using additional information as it becomes available.

Any change in the fair value of an acquisition’s contingent consideration liability results in a remeasurement gain or loss that is recorded as income or
expense, respectively, and is included within “Acquisition-related contingent consideration” in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company recorded $1.7 million gain related to the change in fair value of future contingent
consideration payments, of which $1.5 million related to a termination of a contingent consideration arrangement, for which no future payments will be made.
Fair value remeasurement gains of $0.3 million and $2.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.
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The following table represents the changes in the acquisition-related contingent consideration liability during the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014, respectively:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

(in thousands)   2015   2014   2015   2014  
Beginning balance   $ 6,331   $ 6,903   $ 6,338   $13,329  

Acquisition (1)    —      —      —      (4,495) 
Accretion of acquisition-related contingent consideration    137    255    371    535  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,675)   (261)   (1,675)   (2,383) 
Payments    (421)   (314)   (662)   (378) 
Unrealized gains (losses) related to currency translation in other comprehensive income    —      18    —      (7) 

                 

Ending balance   $ 4,372   $ 6,601   $ 4,372   $ 6,601  
                 

 
(1) Includes adjustments during the purchase price allocation period.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by operating segment for the six months ended June 30, 2015, are as follows:
 

  

Corporate
Finance/

Restructuring  

Forensic and
Litigation
Consulting   

Economic
Consulting  Technology  

Strategic
Communications   Total  

Balances at December 31, 2014:       
Goodwill  $ 446,066   $ 238,173   $269,897   $ 117,967   $ 333,725   $ 1,405,828  
Accumulated goodwill impairment   —      —      —      —      (194,139)   (194,139) 

                        

Goodwill, net at December 31, 2014   446,066    238,173    269,897    117,967    139,586    1,211,689  
                        

Acquisitions   427    —      —      —      —      427  
Foreign currency translation adjustment and other   (2,474)   (758)   (149)   21    (248)   (3,608) 

                        

Goodwill   444,019    237,415    269,748    117,988    333,477    1,402,647  
Accumulated goodwill impairment   —      —      —      —      (194,139)   (194,139) 

                        

Goodwill, net at June 30, 2015  $ 444,019   $ 237,415   $269,748   $ 117,988   $ 139,338   $ 1,208,508  
                        

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. For intangible assets with finite lives, we recorded amortization
expense of $3.0 million and $6.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, and $3.5 and $8.1 million for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. Based solely on the amortizable intangible assets recorded as of June 30, 2015, we estimate amortization expense
to be $5.8 million during the remainder of 2015, $10.6 million in 2016, $9.8 million in 2017, $8.2 million in 2018, $7.6 million in 2019, $7.4 million in 2020,
and $15.4 million in years after 2020. Actual amortization expense to be reported in future periods could differ from these estimates as a result of new
intangible asset acquisitions, finalization of asset valuations for newly acquired assets, changes in useful lives, changes in value due to foreign currency
translation, and other factors.
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9. Debt

The components of debt obligations are presented in the table below:
 
   

June 30,
2015    

December 31,
2014  

6 3⁄4% senior notes due 2020   $400,000    $ 400,000  
6.0% senior notes due 2022    300,000     300,000  
Notes payable to former shareholders of acquired businesses    11,000     11,000  

          

Total debt    711,000     711,000  
Less current portion    11,000     11,000  

          

Long-term debt, net of current portion   $700,000    $ 700,000  
          

On June 26, 2015, we entered into a credit agreement (the “2015 Credit Agreement”), which effectively amended and extended our prior Credit
Agreement, dated November 27, 2012 (the “2012 Credit Agreement”). The 2012 Credit Agreement provided for a five-year $350 million senior secured
revolving line of credit maturing on November 27, 2017. The 2015 Credit Agreement provides for a $550 million senior secured revolving line of credit (the
“2015 Credit Facility”) maturing on June 26, 2020. We did not incur any early termination or prepayment penalties in connection with the replacement of the
2012 Credit Agreement. At the Company’s option, borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility will bear interest at either one, two or three month LIBOR or an
alternative base rate, in each case plus the applicable margin. Borrowings will initially bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum, in the case of LIBOR
borrowings, or at the alternate base rate plus 0.75% per annum, in the case of base rate loans. After delivering the compliance certificate for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2015, the applicable margin will fluctuate between 1.375% per annum and 2.00% per annum, in the case of LIBOR borrowings, or between
0.375% per annum and 1.00% per annum, in the case of base rate borrowings, in each case, based upon the Company’s Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) at such time.

We will initially be required to pay a commitment fee of 0.30% per annum on the daily unused amount of the facility and a letter of credit fronting fee
of 1.75% per annum on the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit that is issued and outstanding. After delivering the compliance
certificate for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2015, the commitment fee rate will fluctuate between 0.25% and 0.35% per annum and the letter of credit fee
rate will fluctuate between 1.375% and 2.00% per annum, in each case, based upon the Company’s Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio.

Under the 2015 Credit Facility, the lenders have a security interest in substantially all of the existing and after acquired assets of FTI Consulting, Inc.
and substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries. Subject to certain conditions, at any time prior to maturity, we will be able to invite existing and new
lenders to increase the size of the revolving credit facility under the 2015 Credit Agreement or provide new term loans under the 2015 Credit Agreement, in
each case, up to a maximum of $100.0 million plus unlimited amounts so long as the effect of the new increase does not cause the Consolidated Total
Leverage Ratio to be greater than 3.50 to 1.00.

The 2015 Credit Agreement governing our 2015 Credit Facility and the indentures governing our Notes contain covenants which, among other things,
limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, pay dividends on our capital stock, make distributions or repurchases of our capital stock or
make specified other restricted payments, consolidate, merge or sell assets or engage in sale-leasebacks, guarantee obligations of other entities and our foreign
subsidiaries, make investments and loans, enter into transactions with affiliates or related persons, repay, redeem or purchase certain indebtedness (or modify
the terms thereof), make material changes to accounting and reporting practices and engage in any business other than consulting-related businesses or
substantially related, complimentary or incidental businesses. In addition, the 2015 Credit Agreement governing our 2015 Credit Facility includes financial
covenants that require us to (i) not to exceed a maximum consolidated total leverage ratio (the ratio of total funded debt to adjusted EBITDA), (and (iii) not to
exceed a maximum
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consolidated interest coverage ratio (the ratio of adjusted EBITDA minus capital expenditures and cash taxes to cash interest). At June 30, 2015, we were in
compliance with all covenants as stipulated in the 2015 Credit Agreement governing our 2015 Credit Facility and the indentures governing our Senior Notes.
There were no borrowings outstanding under the Company’s 2015 Credit Facility as of June 30, 2015.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

We are subject to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In management’s opinion, we believe we have adequate legal defenses and/or
insurance coverage with respect to the eventuality of such actions. We do not believe any settlement or judgment relating to any pending legal action would
materially affect our financial position or results of operations.

11. Share-Based Compensation

Share-based Awards and Share-based Compensation Expense

Our officers, employees, non-employee directors and certain individual service providers are eligible to participate in the Company’s equity
compensation plans, subject to the discretion of the administrator of the plans. During the three months ended June 30, 2015, we granted 124,688 restricted
stock awards, 126,070 stock options, 81,016 performance stock units, and 51,369 restricted stock units. During the six months ended June 30, 2015, we
granted 244,020 restricted stock awards, 184,933 stock options, 81,016 performance stock units, and 109,665 restricted stock units. During the three months
ended June 30, 2015, 43,537 stock options were forfeited prior to the completion of the vesting requirements. These awards are recorded as equity on the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Total share-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 is detailed in the following
table:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,    

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

Comprehensive Income Statement Classification   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Direct cost of revenues   $ 2,234    $ 3,548    $ 6,133    $ 9,370  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    2,134     2,773     5,177     6,027  

                    

Total share-based compensation expense   $ 4,368    $ 6,321    $11,310    $15,397  
                    

12. Income Taxes

The Company has estimated its annual effective tax rate for the full fiscal year 2015 and applied that rate to its income before income taxes in
determining its provision for income taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. The Company also records discrete items in each respective
period as appropriate.

As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the liability for uncertain tax positions was $7.9 million and $2.8 million respectively. During the six
month ended June 30, 2015, the increase in the liability for uncertain tax positions is due to the timing of tax deductions claimed in prior years.
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13. Segment Reporting

We manage our business in five reportable segments: Corporate Finance/Restructuring, Forensic and Litigation Consulting, Economic Consulting,
Technology and Strategic Communications.

Our Corporate Finance/Restructuring segment focuses on strategic, operational, financial and capital needs of businesses around the world and provides
consulting and advisory services on a wide range of areas, such as restructuring (including bankruptcy), interim management, financings, mergers and
acquisitions, post-acquisition integration, valuations, tax issues and performance improvement.

Our Forensic and Litigation Consulting segment provides law firms, companies, government clients and other interested parties with dispute advisory,
investigations, forensic accounting, business intelligence assessments, data analytics, risk mitigation services as well as interim management and performance
improvement services for our health solutions practice clients.

Our Economic Consulting segment provides law firms, companies, government entities and other interested parties with analysis of complex economic
issues for use in legal, regulatory and international arbitration proceedings, strategic decision making and public policy debates in the U.S. and around the
world.

Our Technology segment provides electronic discovery and information management consulting, software and services to its clients. It provides
products, services and consulting to companies, law firms, courts and government agencies worldwide. Its comprehensive suite of software and services help
clients locate, review and produce electronically stored information, including e-mail, computer files, voicemail, instant messaging, cloud and social media
data as well as financial and transactional data.

Our Strategic Communications segment provides advice and consulting services relating to financial and corporate communications and investor
relations, reputation management and brand communications, public affairs, business consulting and digital design and marketing.

We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on Adjusted Segment EBITDA. We define Adjusted Segment EBITDA as a segment’s
share of consolidated operating income before depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration,
special charges and goodwill impairment charges. We define Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA as the total of Adjusted Segment EBITDA for all segments,
which excludes unallocated corporate expenses. Although Adjusted Segment EBITDA is not a measure of financial condition or performance determined in
accordance with GAAP, we use Adjusted Segment EBITDA to internally evaluate the financial performance of our segments because we believe it is a useful
supplemental measure which reflects current core operating performance and provides an indicator of the segment’s ability to generate cash.
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The table below presents revenues and Adjusted Segment EBITDA for our reportable segments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and
2014:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,    

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015    2014    2015    2014  
Revenues         

Corporate Finance/Restructuring   $ 109,113    $ 104,020    $ 215,325    $ 198,002  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    126,131     119,081     249,396     240,510  
Economic Consulting    108,698     117,227     214,779     224,078  
Technology    61,826     60,720     116,480     120,783  
Strategic Communications    43,369     53,276     85,495     96,503  

                    

Revenues   $ 449,137    $ 454,324    $ 881,475    $ 879,876  
                    

Adjusted Segment EBITDA         
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   $ 22,032    $ 19,133    $ 44,512    $ 30,084  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    19,979     22,271     42,050     48,765  
Economic Consulting    15,292     18,043     26,848     31,073  
Technology    12,166     15,104     22,239     32,452  
Strategic Communications    5,631     5,834     11,383     8,563  

                    

Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 75,100    $ 80,385    $ 147,032    $ 150,937  
                    

The table below reconciles Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA to income before income tax provision:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 75,100   $ 80,385   $147,032   $150,937  
Segment depreciation expense    (6,513)   (7,512)   (13,504)   (15,060) 
Amortization of other intangible assets    (3,007)   (3,452)   (6,019)   (8,068) 
Special charges    —      (9,364)   —      (9,364) 
Unallocated corporate expenses, excluding special charges    (20,101)   (21,386)   (34,182)   (41,779) 
Interest income and other    950    1,448    813    2,451  
Interest expense    (12,473)   (12,908)   (24,841)   (25,563) 
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    1,675    261    1,675    2,383  

                 

Income before income tax provision   $ 35,631   $ 27,472   $ 70,974   $ 55,937  
                 

14. Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financial Information

Substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries are guarantors of borrowings under our 2015 Credit Facility and Senior Notes. The guarantees are full and
unconditional and joint and several. All of the guarantors are 100%-owned, direct or indirect, subsidiaries. The following financial information presents
condensed consolidating balance sheets, statements of comprehensive income and statements of cash flows for FTI Consulting, all the guarantor subsidiaries,
all the non-guarantor subsidiaries and the eliminations necessary to arrive at the consolidated information for FTI Consulting and its subsidiaries. For
purposes of this presentation, we have accounted for our investments in our subsidiaries using the equity method of accounting. The principal eliminating
entries eliminate investment in subsidiary and intercompany balances and transactions.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet Information as of June 30, 2015
 
   

FTI
Consulting, Inc.   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries    

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries    Eliminations   Consolidated 

Assets          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 132,087    $ 159    $ 107,742    $ —     $ 239,988  
Accounts receivable, net    185,150     176,336     187,814     —      549,300  
Intercompany receivables    —       873,606     —       (873,606)   —    
Other current assets    69,662     26,636     18,837     —      115,135  

                        

Total current assets    386,899     1,076,737     314,393     (873,606)   904,423  
Property and equipment, net    34,915     15,960     29,652     —      80,527  
Goodwill    558,978     416,053     233,477     —      1,208,508  
Other intangible assets, net    27,834     17,001     48,316     (22,795)   70,356  
Investments in subsidiaries    1,959,993     491,623     —       (2,451,616)   —    
Other assets    53,092     78,189     41,969     —      173,250  

                        

Total assets   $ 3,021,711    $2,095,563    $ 667,807    $(3,348,017)  $ 2,437,064  
                        

Liabilities          
Intercompany payables   $ 821,938    $ 13,607    $ 38,061    $ (873,606)  $ —    
Other current liabilities    130,039     98,336     86,246     —      314,621  

                        

Total current liabilities    951,977     111,943     124,307     (873,606)   314,621  
Long-term debt, net    700,000     —       —       —      700,000  
Other liabilities    206,152     11,140     41,569     —      258,861  

                        

Total liabilities    1,858,129     123,083     165,876     (873,606)   1,273,482  
Stockholders’ equity    1,163,582     1,972,480     501,931     (2,474,411)   1,163,582  

                        

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 3,021,711    $2,095,563    $ 667,807    $(3,348,017)  $ 2,437,064  
                        

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet Information as of December 31, 2014
 
   

FTI
Consulting, Inc.   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries    

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries    Eliminations   Consolidated 

Assets          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 171,090    $ 159    $ 112,431    $ —     $ 283,680  
Accounts receivable, net    153,495     162,032     169,574     —      485,101  
Intercompany receivables    —       875,000     12,195     (887,195)   —    
Other current assets    74,455     22,994     17,943     —      115,392  

                        

Total current assets    399,040     1,060,185     312,143     (887,195)   884,173  
Property and equipment, net    33,864     17,050     31,249     —      82,163  
Goodwill    559,318     416,053     236,318     —      1,211,689  
Other intangible assets, net    29,807     18,432     53,357     (24,562)   77,034  
Investments in subsidiaries    1,915,869     484,162     —       (2,400,031)   —    
Other assets    61,025     78,388     36,055     —      175,468  

                        

Total assets   $ 2,998,923    $2,074,270    $ 669,122    $(3,311,788)  $ 2,430,527  
                        

Liabilities          
Intercompany payables   $ 832,253    $ 14,197    $ 40,745    $ (887,195)  $ —    
Other current liabilities    148,299     113,450     105,343     —      367,092  

                        

Total current liabilities    980,552     127,647     146,088     (887,195)   367,092  
Long-term debt, net    700,000     —       —       —      700,000  
Other liabilities    215,625     14,955     30,109     —      260,689  

                        

Total liabilities    1,896,177     142,602     176,197     (887,195)   1,327,781  
Stockholders’ equity    1,102,746     1,931,668     492,925     (2,424,593)   1,102,746  

                        

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 2,998,923    $2,074,270    $ 669,122    $(3,311,788)  $ 2,430,527  
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2015

 
  

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Revenues  $ 172,899   $ 289,431   $ 125,484   $ (138,677)  $ 449,137  
Operating expenses      

Direct cost of revenues   106,517    238,186    85,255    (138,489)   291,469  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   48,177    30,962    30,094    (188)   109,045  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration   (1,485)   (53)   —      —      (1,538) 
Amortization of other intangible assets   986    716    2,202    (897)   3,007  

                    

Operating income   18,704    19,620    7,933    897    47,154  
Other (expense) income   (11,709)   (1,053)   1,239    —      (11,523) 

                    

Income before income tax provision   6,995    18,567    9,172    897    35,631  
Income tax provision   4,124    8,267    1,531    —      13,922  
Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries   18,838    6,851    —      (25,689)   —    

                    

Net income   21,709    17,151    7,641    (24,792)   21,709  
                    

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:      
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense

of $0   —      —      13,298    —      13,298  
                    

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   —      —      13,298    —      13,298  
                    

Comprehensive income  $ 21,709   $ 17,151   $ 20,939   $ (24,792)  $ 35,007  
                    

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2014

 
  

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Revenues  $ 155,457   $ 269,329   $ 131,805   $ (102,267)  $ 454,324  
Operating expenses      

Direct cost of revenues   98,574    210,455    88,439    (101,919)   295,549  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   45,864    30,077    31,439    (348)   107,032  
Special Charges   9,364    —      —      —      9,364  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration   2    200    (207)   —      (5) 
Amortization of other intangible assets   1,086    641    2,697    (972)   3,452  

                    

Operating income   567    27,956    9,437    972    38,932  
Other (expense) income   (12,262)   (1,969)   2,771    —      (11,460) 

                    

Income (loss) before income tax provision   (11,695)   25,987    12,208    972    27,472  
Income tax (benefit) provision   (4,847)   11,858    3,214    —      10,225  
Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries   24,095    8,357    —      (32,452)   —    

                    

Net income   17,247    22,486    8,994    (31,480)   17,247  
                    

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:      
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense

of $0   —      —      7,694    —      7,694  
                    

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   —      —      7,694    —      7,694  
                    

Comprehensive income  $ 17,247   $ 22,486   $ 16,688   $ (31,480)  $ 24,941  
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2015

 
  

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Revenues  $ 342,034   $ 433,570   $ 247,336   $ (141,465)  $ 881,475  
Operating expenses      

Direct cost of revenues   211,580    334,773    165,338    (141,192)   570,499  
Selling, general and administrative expense   91,588    60,839    59,105    (273)   211,259  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration   (1,420)   116    —      —      (1,304) 
Amortization of other intangible assets   1,972    1,431    4,383    (1,767)   6,019  

                    

Operating income   38,314    36,411    18,510    1,767    95,002  
Other (expense) income   (25,575)   (3,063)   4,610    —      (24,028) 

                    

Income (loss) before income tax provision   12,739    33,348    23,120    1,767    70,974  
Income tax (benefit) provision   6,687    13,993    4,899    —      25,579  
Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries   39,343    16,676    —      (56,019)   —    

                    

Net income   45,395    36,031    18,221    (54,252)   45,395  
                    

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax $0   —      —      (7,184)   —      (7,184) 

                    

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   —      —      (7,184)   —      (7,184) 
                    

Comprehensive income  $ 45,395   $ 36,031   $ 11,037   $ (54,252)  $ 38,211  
                    

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2014

 
  

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Revenues  $ 306,489   $ 521,412   $ 252,332   $ (200,357)  $ 879,876  
Operating expenses      

Direct cost of revenues   198,072    406,154    165,296    (199,698)   569,824  
Selling, general and administrative expense   91,162    58,577    66,339    (659)   215,419  
Special charges   9,364    —      —      —      9,364  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration   (596)   (403)   (849)   —      (1,848) 
Amortization of other intangible assets   2,159    1,370    6,468    (1,929)   8,068  

                    

Operating income   6,328    55,714    15,078    1,929    79,049  
Other (expense) income   (25,576)   (4,235)   6,699    —      (23,112) 

                    

Income (loss) before income tax provision   (19,248)   51,479    21,777    1,929    55,937  
Income tax (benefit) provision   (7,705)   22,904    5,374    —      20,573  
Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries   46,907    14,690    —      (61,597)   —    

                    

Net income   35,364    43,265    16,403    (59,668)   35,364  
                    

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:      
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax $0   —      —      12,422    —      12,422  

                    

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   —      —      12,422    —      12,422  
                    

Comprehensive income  $ 35,364   $ 43,265   $ 28,825   $ (59,668)  $ 47,786  
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2015
 
   

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Consolidated 

Operating activities      
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (28,171)  $ 8,296   $ (10,856)  $ (30,731) 

Investing activities      
Payments for acquisition of businesses, net of cash received    —      —      (576)   (576) 
Purchases of property and equipment    (6,000)   (8,887)   (2,646)   (17,533) 
Other    25    —      39    64  

                 

Net cash used in investing activities    (5,975)   (8,887)   (3,183)   (18,045) 
                 

Financing activities      
Payments of debt financing fees    (3,090)   —      —      (3,090) 
Net issuance of common stock under equity compensation plans    8,662    —      —      8,662  
Deposits    —      —      2,423    2,423  
Other    (114)   (212)   —      (326) 
Intercompany transfers    (10,315)   803    9,512    —    

                 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (4,857)   591    11,935    7,669  
                 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    —      —      (2,585)   (2,585) 
                 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (39,003)   —      (4,689)   (43,692) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    171,090    159    112,431    283,680  

                 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 132,087   $ 159   $ 107,742   $ 239,988  
                 

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
 
   

FTI
Consulting, Inc.  

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Consolidated 

Operating activities      
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (26,238)  $ (33,013)  $ (17,853)   (77,104) 

Investing activities      
Payments for acquisition of businesses, net of cash received    (14,656)   —      (955)   (15,611) 
Purchases of property and equipment    (7,140)   (3,890)   (10,748)   (21,778) 
Other    (6)   —      —      (6) 

                 

Net cash used in investing activities    (21,802)   (3,890)   (11,703)   (37,395) 
                 

Financing activities      
Net issuance of common stock under equity compensation plans    (2,692)   —      —      (2,692) 
Purchase and retirement of common stock    (4,367)   —      —      (4,367) 
Deposits    —      —      11,580    11,580  
Other    444    (378)   (957)   (891) 
Intercompany transfers    (24,147)   36,943    (12,796)   —    

                 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (30,762)   36,565    (2,173)   3,630  
                 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    —      —      (552)   (552) 
                 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (78,802)   (338)   (32,281)   (111,421) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    111,943    494    93,396    205,833  

                 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 33,141   $ 156   $ 61,115   $ 94,412  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is a discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 and significant factors that could affect our prospective financial condition and results of operations. This discussion should be read together
with the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes and with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014. Historical results and any discussion of prospective results may not indicate our future performance. See “—Forward-Looking
Statements.”

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading global business advisory firm dedicated to helping organizations protect and enhance their enterprise value. We work closely with our
clients to help them anticipate, understand, manage and overcome complex business matters arising from such factors as the economy, financial and credit
markets, governmental regulation, legislation and litigation. We assist clients in addressing a broad range of business challenges, such as restructuring
(including bankruptcy), financing and credit issues and indebtedness, interim business management, forensic accounting and litigation matters, international
arbitrations, mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”), antitrust and competition matters, securities litigation, electronic discovery (“e-discovery”), management and
retrieval of electronically stored information (“ESI”), reputation management and strategic communications. We also provide services to help our clients take
advantage of economic, regulatory, financial and other business opportunities. Our experienced teams of professionals include many individuals who are
widely recognized as experts in their respective fields. We believe clients retain us because of our recognized expertise and capabilities in highly specialized
areas as well as our reputation for satisfying client needs.

We report financial results for the following five reportable segments:

Our Corporate Finance/Restructuring (“Corporate Finance”) segment focuses on strategic, operational, financial and capital needs of businesses
around the world and provides consulting and advisory services on a wide range of areas, such as restructuring (including bankruptcy), interim management,
financings, M&A, post-acquisition integration, valuations, tax issues and performance improvement.

Our Forensic and Litigation Consulting (“FLC”) segment provides law firms, companies, government clients and other interested parties with
dispute advisory, investigations, forensic accounting, business intelligence assessments, data analytics, risk mitigation services as well as interim management
and performance improvement services for our health solutions practice clients.

Our Economic Consulting segment provides law firms, companies, government entities and other interested parties with analysis of complex
economic issues for use in legal, regulatory and international arbitration proceedings, strategic decision making and public policy debates in the United States
(“U.S.”) and around the world.

Our Technology segment provides e-discovery and information management consulting, software and services to its clients. It provides products,
services and consulting to companies, law firms, courts and government agencies worldwide. Its comprehensive suite of software and services help clients
locate, review and produce ESI, including e-mail, computer files, voicemail, instant messaging, cloud and social media data as well as financial and
transactional data.

Our Strategic Communications segment provides advice and consulting services relating to financial and corporate communications and investor
relations, reputation management and brand communications, public affairs, business consulting and digital design and marketing.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from providing professional services to both U.S. and global clients. Most of our services are rendered under
time-and-expense arrangements that obligate the client to pay us
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a fee for the hours that we incur at agreed upon rates. Under this arrangement, we typically bill our clients for reimbursable expenses, which may include the
cost of producing our work product and other direct expenses that we incur on behalf of the client, such as travel costs. We also render services for which
certain clients may be required to pay us a fixed fee or recurring retainer. These arrangements are generally cancellable at any time. Some of our engagements
contain performance-based arrangements in which we earn a success fee when and if certain predefined outcomes occur. This type of success fee may
supplement a time-and-expense or fixed-fee arrangement. Success fee revenues may cause variations in our revenues and operating results due to the timing
of achieving the performance-based criteria. In our Technology segment, certain clients are also billed based on the amount of data stored on our electronic
systems, the volume of information processed or the number of users licensing our Ringtail® software products for use or installation within their own
environments. We license certain products directly to end users as well as indirectly through our channel partner relationships. Unit-based revenue is defined
as revenue billed on a per-item, per-page, or some other unit-based method and includes revenue from data processing and hosting, software usage and
software licensing. Unit-based revenue includes revenue associated with our proprietary software that is made available to customers, either via a web
browser (“on-demand”) or installed at our customer or partner locations (“on-premise”). On-demand revenue is charged on a unit or monthly basis and
includes, but is not limited to, processing and review related functions. On-premise revenue is comprised of up-front license fees, with recurring support and
maintenance. Seasonal factors, such as the timing of our employees’ and clients’ vacations and holidays, impact the timing of our revenues.

Our financial results are primarily driven by:
 

 •  the number, size and type of engagements we secure;
 

 •  the rate per hour or fixed charges we charge our clients for services;
 

 •  the utilization rates of the revenue-generating professionals we employ;
 

 •  the number of revenue-generating professionals;
 

 •  fees from clients on a retained basis or other;
 

 •  licensing of our software products and other technology services;
 

 •  the types of assignments we are working on at different times;
 

 •  the length of the billing and collection cycles; and
 

 •  the geographic locations of our clients or locations in which services are rendered.

Non-GAAP Measures

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we sometimes use information derived from consolidated and segment financial information
that is not presented in our financial statements and prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Certain of these
measures are considered “non-GAAP financial measures” under the SEC rules. Specifically, we have referred to:
 

 •  Segment Operating Income
 

 •  Total Segment Operating Income
 

 •  Adjusted EBITDA
 

 •  Adjusted Segment EBITDA
 

 •  Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA
 

 •  Adjusted EBITDA Margin
 

 •  Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin
 

 •  Adjusted Net Income
 

 •  Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share
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We define Segment Operating Income (Loss) as a segment’s share of consolidated operating income. We define Total Segment Operating Income
(Loss) as the total of Segment Operating Income (Loss) for all segments, which excludes unallocated corporate expenses. We use Segment Operating Income
(Loss) for the purpose of calculating Adjusted Segment EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as consolidated net income (loss) before income tax
provision, other non-operating income (expense), depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent
consideration, special charges, goodwill impairment charges and losses on early extinguishment of debt. We define Adjusted Segment EBITDA as a
segment’s share of consolidated operating income before depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent
consideration, special charges and goodwill impairment charges. We define Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA as the total of Adjusted Segment EBITDA for
all segments, which excludes unallocated corporate expenses. We define Adjusted EBITDA Margin as Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of total revenues.
We define Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin as Adjusted Segment EBITDA as a percentage of a segment’s share of revenue. We use Adjusted Segment
EBITDA to internally evaluate the financial performance of our segments because we believe it is a useful supplemental measure which reflects current core
operating performance and provides an indicator of the segment’s ability to generate cash. We also believe that these measures, when considered together with
our GAAP financial results, provide management and investors with a more complete understanding of our operating results, including underlying trends, by
excluding the effects of remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration, special charges and goodwill impairment charges. In addition,
EBITDA is a common alternative measure of operating performance used by many of our competitors. It is used by investors, financial analysts, rating
agencies and others to value and compare the financial performance of companies in our industry. Therefore, we also believe that these measures, considered
along with corresponding GAAP measures, provide management and investors with additional information for comparison of our operating results to the
operating results of other companies.

We define Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share (“Adjusted EPS”) as net income and earnings per diluted share, respectively,
excluding the impact of remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration, special charges, goodwill impairment charges and losses on early
extinguishment of debt. We use Adjusted Net Income for the purpose of calculating Adjusted EPS. Management uses Adjusted EPS to assess total company
operating performance on a consistent basis. We believe that this measure, when considered together with our GAAP financial results, provides management
and investors with a more complete understanding of our business operating results, including underlying trends, by excluding the effects of the
remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration, special charges, goodwill impairment charges and losses on early extinguishment of debt.

Non-GAAP financial measures are not defined in the same manner by all companies and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of
other companies. Non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to, the information contained in
our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Reconciliations of GAAP to non-GAAP financial measures are included elsewhere in this filing.

We define acquisition growth as revenue of acquired companies in the first twelve months following the effective date of an acquisition. Our definition
of organic growth is the change in revenue excluding the impact of all such acquisitions.
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EXECUTIVE HIGHLIGHTS
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,    

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

         2015               2014               2015              2014       

   
(dollars in thousands,

except per share amounts)    
(dollars in thousands,

except per share amounts)  
Revenues   $ 449,137    $ 454,324    $ 881,475   $ 879,876  
Special charges   $ —      $ 9,364    $ —     $ 9,364  
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 55,789    $ 59,903    $ 114,457   $ 111,099  
Net income   $ 21,709    $ 17,247    $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.52    $ 0.42    $ 1.09   $ 0.87  
Adjusted EPS   $ 0.50    $ 0.55    $ 1.07   $ 0.97  
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ 20,602    $ 33,691    $ (30,731)  $ (77,104) 
Total number of employees    4,536     4,223     4,536    4,223  

Second Quarter 2015 Executive Highlights

Revenues

Revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2015 decreased $5.2 million, or 1.1%, to $449.1 million, which included a $14.2 million, or 3.1%
decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation, compared to $454.3 million in the same prior year period. Excluding the impact
of foreign currency translation, revenues increased $9.0 million, or 2.0%. The increase in revenues largely resulted from higher demand for North American
distressed and non-distressed engagements in our Corporate Finance segment and due to higher demand and success fees in our FLC health solutions practice.
These increases were partially offset by decreased demand for our non-M&A related antitrust and financial economics services in our Economic Consulting
segment and lower pass through income in our Strategic Communications segment.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2015 decreased $4.1 million, or 6.9%, to $55.8 million, or 12.4% of revenues, compared to
$59.9 million, or 13.2% of revenues, in the same prior year period. Adjusted EBITDA was unfavorably impacted due to lower utilization in our FLC and
Economic Consulting segments, the mix impact of engagements within our Technology segment, and investments in headcount to support certain segments
strategic plans for the future. These declines were partially offset by higher demand and higher utilization in North America and the Europe, Middle East and
Africa (“EMEA”) region distressed and non-distressed services in our Corporate Finance segment.

Net Income

Net income for the three months ended June 30, 2015 increased $4.5 million to $21.7 million, compared to $17.2 million in the same prior year period.
Net income for the current quarter was impacted by the segment results described above and also included a $0.9 million positive impact related to the
termination of a contingent consideration arrangement. The prior year quarter included a $9.4 million special charge related to the termination of an airplane
lease and certain office closures.

Earnings per diluted share and Adjusted EPS

Earnings per share for the three months ended June 30, 2015 increased $0.10 to $0.52 from $0.42 in the same prior year period. Earnings per share
were impacted by the results as outlined above and the contingent liability reversal, which increased earnings per share by $0.02. Earnings per share for the
three months ended
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June 30, 2014 included the impact of the special charge of $9.4 million, which reduced earnings per share by $0.14. Adjusted EPS for the three months ended
June 30, 2015 were $0.50 as compared to $0.55 in the same prior year period.

Liquidity highlights

Cash used in operating activities decreased $46.4 million, or 60.1%, to $30.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $77.1 million
for the same prior year period with higher compensation and forgivable loan payments partially offset by higher cash collections. DSO, which is one measure
of the collections cycle, was 104 days at June 30, 2015 compared to 108 days at June 30, 2014 reflecting improved collections. We calculate DSO at the end
of each reporting period by dividing net accounts receivable reduced by billings in excess of services provided, by revenue for the quarter, adjusted for
changes in foreign exchange rates. We multiply the result by the number of days in the quarter.

Our financing activities during the three months ended June 30, 2015, included entering into the five-year, $550.0 million 2015 Credit Facility. The
2015 Credit Facility effectively amends and extends the maturity date of the Company’s prior $350.0 million credit facility from November 27, 2017 to
June 26, 2020. Borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility may be used as permitted under the terms of the 2015 Credit Facility to finance working capital, for
capital expenditures and for other general corporate purposes, to repay or redeem existing debt, including under the Company’s existing credit facilities or
senior notes, and for permitted acquisitions. The Company had no outstanding borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility as of June 30, 2015.

The Company currently intends, on or before October 1, 2015 and subject to market conditions and other factors, to retire its $400.0 million of 6.75%
Notes due 2020 (the “2020 Notes”), funded by a combination of approximately $275.0 million of borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility and
approximately $140.0 million of cash on hand. While this is its current intention, the Company is not providing a notice of redemption or otherwise making
an irrevocable commitment to retire the 2020 Notes as described above, and any such decision will, among other things, be subject to further review and final
approval by the Company’s Board of Directors. There can be no assurance that the Company will decide to retire the 2020 Notes in the manner described
above or at all. Should the Company retire the 2020 Notes, on or before October 1, 2015, it estimates it would incur a charge for early retirement of debt,
including remaining unamortized issuance expenses of approximately $19.0 million before taxes.

Headcount

As of June 30, 2015, our total headcount of 4,536 increased by a net of 132 employees from December 31, 2014 and billable headcount increased a net
of 69 employees from the beginning of 2015.

Billable headcount additions for the six-months ended June 30, 2015 are referenced in the table below.
 

   
Corporate Finance/

Restructuring (1)    

Forensic and
Litigation
Consulting   

Economic
Consulting  Technology   

Strategic
Communications  Total  

Billable Headcount          
December 31, 2014    706     1,154    574    344     566    3,344  
Additions (reductions), net    29     (9)   (8)   16     (10)   18  

                           

March 31, 2015    735     1,145    566    360     556    3,362  
                           

Additions (reductions), net    40     24    (12)   4     (5)   51  
                           

June 30, 2015    775     1,169    554    364     551    3,413  
                           

 
(1) Includes 9 billable employees acquired by our Corporate Finance segment’s European tax advisory business in the 3 months ended June 30, 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Segment and Consolidated Operating Results:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  

   
(in thousands, except
per share amounts)   

(in thousands, except
per share amounts)  

Revenues      
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   $109,113   $ 104,020   $ 215,325   $ 198,002  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    126,131    119,081    249,396    240,510  
Economic Consulting    108,698    117,227    214,779    224,078  
Technology    61,826    60,720    116,480    120,783  
Strategic Communications    43,369    53,276    85,495    96,503  

                 

Revenues   $449,137   $ 454,324   $ 881,475   $ 879,876  
                 

Operating income      
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   $ 21,906   $ 17,068   $ 42,670   $ 25,675  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    18,476    20,839    38,950    46,241  
Economic Consulting    14,282    16,840    24,578    29,270  
Technology    8,465    10,905    14,663    23,971  
Strategic Communications    4,126    4,030    8,323    5,035  

                 

Total segment operating income    67,255    69,682    129,184    130,192  
Unallocated corporate expenses    (20,101)   (30,750)   (34,182)   (51,143) 

                 

Operating income    47,154    38,932    95,002    79,049  
                 

Other income (expense)      
Interest income and other    950    1,448    813    2,451  
Interest expense    (12,473)   (12,908)   (24,841)   (25,563) 

                 

   (11,523)   (11,460)   (24,028)   (23,112) 
                 

Income before income tax provision    35,631    27,472    70,974    55,937  
Income tax provision    13,922    10,225    25,579    20,573  

                 

Net income   $ 21,709   $ 17,247   $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
                 

Earnings per common share—basic   $ 0.53   $ 0.43   $ 1.12   $ 0.89  
                 

Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.52   $ 0.42   $ 1.09   $ 0.87  
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Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA:
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
   (in thousands)   (in thousands)  
Net income   $21,709   $17,247   $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
Add back:      

Income tax provision    13,922    10,225    25,579    20,573  
Other income (expense), net    11,523    11,460    24,028    23,112  
Depreciation and amortization    7,303    8,416    15,111    17,001  
Amortization of other intangible assets    3,007    3,452    6,019    8,068  
Special charges    —      9,364    —      9,364  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,675)   (261)   (1,675)   (2,383) 

                 

Adjusted EBITDA   $55,789   $59,903   $114,457   $ 111,099  
                 

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted Net Income and Earnings Per Share to Adjusted EPS:
 
   Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
   June 30,   June 30,  
   2015   2014   2015   2014  

   
(in thousands, except
per share amounts)   

(in thousands, except
per share amounts)  

Net income   $21,709   $17,247   $45,395   $35,364  
Add back:      

Special charges, net of tax effect (1)    —      5,523    —      5,523  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration, net of tax effect (2)    (1,005)   (164)   (1,005)   (1,514) 

                 

Adjusted net income   $20,704   $22,606   $44,390   $39,373  
                 

Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.52   $ 0.42   $ 1.09   $ 0.87  
Add back:      

Special charges, net of tax effect (1)    —      0.14    —      0.14  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration, net of tax effect (2)    (0.02)   (0.01)   (0.02)   (0.04) 

                 

Adjusted EPS   $ 0.50   $ 0.55   $ 1.07   $ 0.97  
                 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted    41,696    40,750    41,529    40,604  
                 

 
(1) The tax effect takes into account the tax treatment and related tax rate(s) that apply to each adjustment in the applicable tax jurisdiction(s). As a result,

the effective tax rate for the adjustments related to special charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 was 41.0%. The tax expense related
to the adjustment for special charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 was $3.8 million, or a $0.09 impact on diluted earnings per
share. During the three and six months ended, June 30, 2015, there were no special charges.

 
(2) The tax effect takes into account the tax treatment and related tax rate(s) that apply to each adjustment in the applicable tax jurisdiction(s). As a result,

the effective tax rates for the adjustments related to the remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2015 was 40.0%. The tax expense related to the remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2015 was $0.7 million, or a $0.02 impact on
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diluted earnings per share. The effective tax rates for the adjustments related to the remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 were 37.2% and 36.5%, respectively. The tax expense related to the remeasurement of acquisition-related
contingent consideration for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 was $0.1 million with no impact on diluted earnings per share and $0.9
million, or a $0.02 impact on diluted earnings per share.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues and operating income

See “Segment Results” for an expanded discussion of segment revenues and operating income.

Unallocated corporate expenses

Unallocated corporate expenses decreased $10.7 million, or 34.6% to $20.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 from $30.8 million for
the same prior year period. Excluding the impact of special charges of $9.4 million recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2014, unallocated
corporate expenses decreased $1.3 million, or 6.0%. The decrease was primarily due to lower third party costs related to strategic development efforts and
executive search activities, lower costs related to performance based compensation for U.S. and regional teams, and the termination of the airplane lease and
West Palm Beach executive office in 2014, partially offset by increased human resource, information technology and finance spend to support increased
services.

Interest income and other

Interest income and other, which includes foreign currency transaction gains and losses, decreased by $0.4 million to $1.0 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2015 from $1.4 million for the same prior year period. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in net foreign currency transaction losses
which were $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the net gains of $0.1 million in the same prior year period. Transaction
gains and losses, both realized and unrealized, relate to the remeasurement or settlement of monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currency
other than an entity’s functional currency. These monetary assets and liabilities include cash as well as third party and intercompany receivables and payables.

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $0.4 million, or 3.1%, to $12.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 from $12.9 million for the same prior year
period. Interest expense in 2015 was favorably impacted by lower average borrowings.

Income tax provision

The effective tax rates for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 were 39.1% and 37.2%, respectively. The increase in the effective
tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same prior year period, is primarily due to an increase in foreign losses with no tax
benefit and certain unfavorable discrete tax adjustments recorded in the three months ended June 30, 2015.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues and operating income

See “Segment Results” for an expanded discussion of segment revenues and operating income.

Unallocated corporate expenses

Unallocated corporate expenses decreased $16.9 million, or 33.2% to $34.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from $51.1 million for the
same prior year period. Excluding the impact of special charges of
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$9.4 million recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2014, unallocated corporate expenses decreased $7.5 million, or 18.2%. The decrease was
primarily due to lower costs related to our U.S. health and welfare plan, decreased third party costs related to strategic development efforts and executive
search activities, the termination of the airplane lease and West Palm Beach executive office in 2014, and lower costs related to performance based
compensation for U.S. and regional teams partially offset by increased human resource spend to support increased services.

Interest income and other

Interest income and other, which includes foreign currency transaction gains and losses, decreased by $1.7 million to $0.8 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2015 from $2.5 million for the same prior year period. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in net foreign currency transaction losses
which were $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the net losses of $0.2 million in the same prior year period. Transaction gains
and losses, both realized and unrealized, relate to the remeasurement or settlement of monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency other
than an entity’s functional currency. These monetary assets and liabilities include cash as well as third party and intercompany receivables and payables.

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $0.8 million, or 3.1%, to $24.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from $25.6 million for the same prior year
period. Interest expense in 2015 was favorably impacted by lower average borrowings.

Income tax provision

The effective tax rates for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 were 36.0% and 36.8%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax
rate for the six months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to the same prior year period is primarily due to a favorable discrete tax adjustment recorded in the
six months ended June 30, 2015 related to the impact of 2015 state law changes on our deferred state tax liabilities.

SEGMENT RESULTS

Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA

The following table reconciles net income to Total Segment Operating Income and Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
   (in thousands)   (in thousands)  
Net income   $21,709   $17,247   $ 45,395   $ 35,364  
Add back:      

Income tax provision    13,922    10,225    25,579    20,573  
Other income (expense), net    11,523    11,460    24,028    23,112  
Unallocated corporate expense    20,101    30,750    34,182    51,143  

                 

Total Segment Operating Income   $67,255   $69,682   $129,184   $ 130,192  
Add back:      

Segment depreciation expense    6,513    7,512    13,504    15,060  
Amortization of other intangible assets    3,007    3,452    6,019    8,068  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,675)   (261)   (1,675)   (2,383) 

                 

Total Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $75,100   $80,385   $147,032   $ 150,937  
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Other Segment Operating Data
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

       2015          2014          2015          2014     
Number of revenue-generating professionals (at period end):      

Corporate Finance/Restructuring    775    713    775    713  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    1,169    1,059    1,169    1,059  
Economic Consulting    554    525    554    525  
Technology (1)    364    328    364    328  
Strategic Communications    551    566    551    566  

                 

Total revenue-generating professionals    3,413    3,191    3,413    3,191  
                 

Utilization rates of billable professionals: (2)      
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    70%   71%   72%   71% 
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    66%   71%   67%   73% 
Economic Consulting    71%   78%   72%   75% 

Average billable rate per hour: (3)      
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   $ 394   $ 412   $ 384   $ 396  
Forensic and Litigation Consulting    318    323    318    319  
Economic Consulting    530    522    515    519  

 
(1) The number of revenue-generating professionals for the Technology segment excludes as-needed professionals, who we employ based on demand for

the segment’s services. We employed an average of 507 as-needed employees during the three months ended June 30, 2015.
 
(2) We calculate the utilization rate for our billable professionals by dividing the number of hours that all of our billable professionals worked on client

assignments during a period by the total available working hours for all of our billable professionals during the same period. Available hours are
determined by the standard hours worked by each employee, adjusted for part-time hours, local country standard work weeks and local country
holidays. Available working hours include vacation and professional training days, but exclude holidays. Utilization rates are presented for our
segments that primarily bill clients on an hourly basis. We have not presented a utilization rate for our Technology and Strategic Communications
segments as most of the revenues of these segments are not generated on an hourly basis.

 
(3) For engagements where revenues are based on number of hours worked by our billable professionals, average billable rate per hour is calculated by

dividing revenues (excluding revenues from success fees, pass-through and outside consultants) for a period by the number of hours worked on client
assignments during the same period. We have not presented an average billable rate per hour for our Technology and Strategic Communications
segments as most of the revenues of these segments are not based on billable hours.
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CORPORATE FINANCE/RESTRUCTURING
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  

   
(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)   

(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)  

Revenues   $109,113   $104,020   $215,325   $198,002  
                 

Operating expenses:      
Direct cost of revenues    68,068    67,510    132,001    131,479  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    19,695    18,191    40,223    37,977  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,491)   40    (1,438)   (555) 
Amortization of other intangible assets    935    1,211    1,869    3,426  

                 

   87,207    86,952    172,655    172,327  
                 

Segment operating income    21,906    17,068    42,670    25,675  
Add back:      

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets    1,617    2,065    3,333    5,071  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    (1,491)   —      (1,491)   (662) 

                 

Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 22,032   $ 19,133   $ 44,512   $ 30,084  
                 

Gross profit (1)   $ 41,045   $ 36,510   $ 83,324   $ 66,523  
Gross profit margin (2)    37.6%   35.1%   38.7%   33.6% 
Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin    20.2%   18.4%   20.7%   15.2% 
Number of revenue generating professionals (at period end)    775    713    775    713  
Utilization rates of billable professionals    70%   71%   72%   71% 
Average billable rate per hour   $ 394   $ 412   $ 384   $ 396  
 
(1) Revenues less direct cost of revenues
 
(2) Gross profit as a percent of revenues

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues increased $5.1 million, or 4.9%, to $109.1 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $104.0 million for the same prior year
period, which included 4.0% estimated negative impact from foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact, revenue increase
of 8.9% was driven primarily by higher demand for the segment’s distressed and non-distressed service offerings in North America and for our EMEA based
transaction advisory services practice, partially offset by a decline in demand in our Asia Pacific bankruptcy and restructuring practices and lower success
fees in North America.

Gross profit increased $4.5 million, or 12.4%, to $41.0 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $36.5 million for the same prior year
period. Gross profit margin increased 2.5 percentage points to 37.6% for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to 35.1% for the same prior year period.
The increase in gross margin was due to an increase in higher margin distressed activity coupled with higher utilization in North America, growth in
distressed and transaction advisory services practice in EMEA region, which was partially offset by lower restructuring activity in Asia Pacific region.

SG&A expense increased $1.5 million, or 8.3%, to $19.7 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $18.2 million for the same prior year
period. SG&A expense was 18.0% of revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, compared to 17.5% for the same prior year period. The increase in SG&A
expense was primarily due to higher outside services, recruiting expenses, and travel, meals and entertainment expenses.
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Adjusted Segment EBITDA increased $2.9 million, or 15.2%, to $22.0 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $19.1 million for the
same prior year period.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues increased $17.3 million, or 8.7%, to $215.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $198.0 million for the same prior
year period, which included 3.7% estimated negative impact from foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact, the revenue
increase of 12.4% was driven primarily by higher demand for the segment’s distressed and non-distressed engagements in North America and higher demand
and average realized bill rates in our EMEA based transaction advisory services practice, partially offset by a decline in demand in our Asia Pacific practice.

Gross profit increased $16.8 million, or 25.3%, to $83.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $66.5 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin increased to 38.7% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to 33.6% for the same prior year period. The increase
in gross margin was due to an increase in higher margin distressed activity coupled with higher utilization in North America, growth in distressed and
transaction advisory services practice in EMEA region, which was partially offset by lower restructuring activity in Asia Pacific region.

SG&A expense increased $2.2 million, or 5.9%, to $40.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $38.0 million for the same prior
year period. SG&A expense was 18.7% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to 19.2% for the same prior year period. The increase
in SG&A expense was due to higher outside services, travel, meals and entertainment, recruiting, and business development expenses.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA increased $14.4 million, or 48.0%, to $44.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $30.1 million for
the same prior year period.
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FORENSIC AND LITIGATION CONSULTING
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  

   
(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)   

(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)  

Revenues   $126,131   $119,081   $249,396   $240,510  
                 

Operating expenses:      
Direct cost of revenues    81,721    75,332    160,284    149,133  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    25,347    22,481    48,981    44,602  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    6    (245)   18    (890) 
Amortization of other intangible assets    581    674    1,163    1,424  

                 

   107,655    98,242    210,446    194,269  
                 

Segment operating income    18,476    20,839    38,950    46,241  
Add back:      

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets    1,503    1,693    3,100    3,458  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    —      (261)   —      (934) 

                 

Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 19,979   $ 22,271   $ 42,050   $ 48,765  
                 

Gross profit (1)   $ 44,410   $ 43,749   $ 89,112   $ 91,377  
Gross profit margin (2)    35.2%   36.7%   35.7%   38.0% 
Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin    15.8%   18.7%   16.9%   20.3% 
Number of revenue generating professionals (at period end)    1,169    1,059    1,169    1,059  
Utilization rates of billable professionals    66%   71%   67%   73% 
Average billable rate per hour   $ 318   $ 323   $ 318   $ 319  
 
(1) Revenues less direct cost of revenues
 
(2) Gross profit as a percent of revenues

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues increased $7.1 million, or 5.9%, to $126.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $119.1 million for the same prior
year period, including a 1.9% estimated negative impact from foreign currency translation. Excluding the estimated impact of foreign currency translation,
revenue increased $9.4 million, or 7.9%, which was driven by higher demand and success fees in our health solutions practice and increased demand for our
investigations and global construction solutions practices, partially offset by declines in our disputes and financial and enterprise data analytics practices.

Gross profit increased $0.7 million, or 1.5%, to $44.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $43.7 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin decreased to 35.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2015 from 36.7% for the same prior year period. The decrease in
gross profit margin is related to lower utilization in most practices and increased investment in new hires to support the EMEA and Asia Pacific investigation
practices, partially offset by improved performance and success fees in our health solutions practice.

SG&A expense increased $2.9 million, or 12.8%, to $25.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $22.5 million for the same
prior year period. SG&A expense was 20.1% of revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2015, compared to 18.9% for the same prior year period. The
increase in SG&A expense was due to severance related to a Senior Managing Director departure, higher bad debt expenses and outside services.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased by $2.3 million, or 10.3%, to $20.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $22.3 million
for the same prior year period.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Revenues increased $8.9 million, or 3.7%, to $249.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $240.5 million for the same prior year
period, including a 1.6% estimated negative impact from foreign currency translation. Excluding the estimated impact of foreign currency translation, revenue
increased $12.7 million, or 5.3%, which was driven by higher demand and success fees in our health solutions practice and increased demand for our
investigations and global construction solutions practices, which was partially offset by declines in our disputes and financial and enterprise data analytics
practices.

Gross profit decreased $2.3 million, or 2.5%, to $89.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $91.4 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin increased to 35.7% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from 38.0% for the same prior year period. The decrease in gross
profit margin is related to lower utilization in most practices and increased investment in new hires to support the EMEA and Asia Pacific investigation
practices, partially offset by improved performance and success fees in our health solutions practice.

SG&A expense increased $4.4 million, or 9.8%, to $49.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $44.6 million for the same prior
year period. SG&A expense was 19.6% of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to 18.5% for the same prior year period. The increase
in SG&A expense was due to severance related to a Senior Managing Director departure, higher bad debt expenses, recruiting fees and outside services.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased by $6.7 million, or 13.8%, to $42.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $48.8 million
for the same prior year period.

ECONOMIC CONSULTING
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  

   
(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)   

(dollars in thousands,
except rate per hour)  

Revenues   $108,698   $117,227   $214,779   $224,078  
                 

Operating expenses:      
Direct cost of revenues    79,434    84,855    159,373    162,825  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    14,858    15,242    30,359    32,122  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    (184)   68    (147)   (667) 
Amortization of other intangible assets    308    222    616    528  

                 

   94,416    100,387    190,201    194,808  
                 

Segment operating income    14,282    16,840    24,578    29,270  
Add back:      

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets    1,194    1,203    2,454    2,590  
Remeasurement of acquisition-related contingent consideration    (184)   —      (184)   (787) 

                 

Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 15,292   $ 18,043   $ 26,848   $ 31,073  
                 

Gross profit (1)   $ 29,264   $ 32,372   $ 55,406   $ 61,253  
Gross profit margin (2)    26.9%   27.6%   25.8%   27.3% 
Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin    14.1%   15.4%   12.5%   13.9% 
Number of revenue generating professionals (at period end)    554    525    554    525  
Utilization rates of billable professionals    71%   78%   72%   75% 
Average billable rate per hour   $ 530   $ 522   $ 515   $ 519  
 
(1) Revenues less direct cost of revenues
 
(2) Gross profit as a percent of revenues
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $8.5 million, or 7.3%, to $108.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $117.2 million for the same prior
year period, which included a 2.8% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Revenues increased $2.1 million, or 1.8%,
due to acquisitions as compared to the same prior year period. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact, organic revenue declined $7.4 million
primarily due to decreased demand in our non-M&A related antitrust and financial economics services, partially offset by higher demand for our international
arbitration services.

Gross profit decreased $3.1 million, or 9.6%, to $29.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $32.4 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin decreased to 26.9% for the three months ended June 30, 2015 from 27.6% for the same prior year period. The decrease in
gross profit margin was the result of lower utilization in our antitrust and financial economics services, partially offset by higher realized bill rates and
utilization in our energy practice.

SG&A expense decreased $0.4 million, or 2.5%, to $14.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $15.2 million for the same
prior year period. SG&A expense was 13.7% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to 13.0% for the same prior year period. The
decrease in SG&A expense was due to lower bad debt partially offset by higher technology infrastructure and occupancy costs. Bad debt expense was $0.8
million or 0.7% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $2.0 million or 1.7% of revenues for the same prior year period.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased $2.8 million, or 15.2%, to $15.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $18.0 million
for the same prior year period.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $9.3 million, or 4.1%, to $214.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $224.1 million for the same prior
year period, which included a 2.6% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Revenues increased $4.1 million, or 1.8%,
due to acquisitions as compared to the same prior year period. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact, organic revenue declined $7.6 million
primarily due to decreased demand in our non-M&A related antitrust and financial economics services, partially offset by higher demand for our M&A and
international arbitration services.

Gross profit decreased $5.8 million, or 9.5%, to $55.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $61.3 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin decreased to 25.8% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from 27.3% for the same prior year period. The decrease in gross
profit margin was the result of lower utilization in our non-M&A related antitrust and financial economics services, partially offset by improved utilization in
our M&A services and energy practice.

SG&A expense decreased $1.8 million, or 5.5%, to $30.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $32.1 million for the same prior
year period. SG&A expense was 14.1% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to 14.3% for the same prior year period. The decrease
in SG&A expense was due to lower bad debt and occupancy costs partially offset by higher technology infrastructure costs and acquired SG&A expenses.
Bad debt expense was $2.4 million or 1.1% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $4.6 million or 2.0% of revenues for the same
prior year period.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased $4.2 million, or 13.6%, to $26.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $31.1 million for
the same prior year period.
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TECHNOLOGY
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
   (dollars in thousands)   (dollars in thousands)  
Revenues   $61,826   $60,720   $116,480   $120,783  

                 

Operating expenses:      
Direct cost of revenues    34,871    32,949    65,103    63,649  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    18,297    16,648    36,323    32,727  
Amortization of other intangible assets    193    218    391    436  

                 

   53,361    49,815    101,817    96,812  
                 

Segment operating income    8,465    10,905    14,663    23,971  
Add back:      

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets    3,701    4,199    7,576    8,481  
                 

Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $12,166   $15,104   $ 22,239   $ 32,452  
                 

Gross profit (1)   $26,955   $27,771   $ 51,377   $ 57,134  
Gross profit margin (2)    43.6%   45.7%   44.1%   47.3% 
Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin    19.7%   24.9%   19.1%   26.9% 
Number of revenue generating professionals (at period end) (3)    364    328    364    328  
 
(1) Revenues less direct cost of revenues
 
(2) Gross profit as a percent of revenues
 
(3) Includes personnel involved in direct client assistance and revenue generating consultants

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues increased $ 1.1 million, or 1.8%, to $61.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $60.7 million for the same prior
year period, which included a 1.0% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation
impact, revenues increased $1.7 million, or 2.8%, due to higher level of M&A related second requests, partially offset by a decline in cross border
investigations and reduced pricing for certain services.

Gross profit decreased $0.8 million, or 2.9%, to $27.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $27.8 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin decreased to 43.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2015 from 45.7% for the same prior year period. The decrease in
gross margin percentage was due to lower realized pricing for certain services, investment in global personnel to support future growth opportunities, and
increases in lower margin services as a percentage of total revenues.

SG&A increased $1.6 million, or 9.9%, to $18.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $16.6 million for the same prior year
period. SG&A expense was 29.6% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to 27.4% for the same prior year period. The increase in
SG&A expense was due to increased hiring to support business development and marketing activities and due to increased occupancy expenses. Research and
development expense was $4.8 million for the three months ending June 30, 2015 compared to $4.6 million for the same prior year period.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased $2.9 million, or 19.5%, to $12.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $15.1 million for
the same prior year period.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $4.3 million, or 3.6% to $116.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $120.8 million in the same prior year
period, which included a 1.1% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact,
revenues decreased $2.9 million, or 2.4%, due to the wind down of some cross border investigations, conclusion of certain product liability matters, and
reduced pricing for certain services, partially offset by increased services volumes related to M&A activity.

Gross profit decreased $5.8 million, or 10.1%, to $51.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $57.1 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin decreased to 44.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from 47.3%, for the same prior year period. The decrease in
gross profit margin was due to a change in the mix of revenue with higher margin unit-based revenue comprising a smaller percentage of total revenue, higher
costs to support increased document review volumes, along with increased personnel and infrastructure costs to support continued global expansion.

SG&A increased $3.6 million, or 11.0%, to $36.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $32.7 million for the same prior year
period. SG&A expense was 31.2% of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to 37.1% for the same prior year period. The increase in
SG&A expense was due to increased investment in business development and research and development personnel, increased occupancy costs related to
additional personnel, marketing and travel expenses. Bad debt expense decreased by $0.8 million due to the increase in recoveries of previously reserved
balances.

Research and development expense was $10.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $9.1 million for the same prior year period.
The increase in research and development expense is related to new initiatives, partially offset by increased capitalization of software development costs.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased $10.2 million, or 31.5% to $22.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $32.5 million for
the same prior year period.

 

STRATEGIC COMMUNICATIONS
 
   

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

   2015   2014   2015   2014  
   (dollars in thousands)   (dollars in thousands)  
Revenues   $43,369   $53,276   $85,495   $96,503  

                 

Operating expenses:      
Direct cost of revenues    27,375    34,903    53,738    62,738  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    10,747    13,084    21,191    26,212  
Acquisition-related contingent consideration    131    132    263    264  
Amortization of other intangible assets    990    1,127    1,980    2,254  

                 

   39,243    49,246    77,172    91,468  
                 

Segment operating income    4,126    4,030    8,323    5,035  
Add back:      

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets    1,505    1,804    3,060    3,528  
                 

Adjusted Segment EBITDA   $ 5,631   $ 5,834   $11,383   $ 8,563  
                 

Gross profit (1)   $15,994   $18,373   $31,757   $33,765  
Gross profit margin (2)    36.9%   34.5%   37.1%   35.0% 
Adjusted Segment EBITDA Margin    13.0%   10.9%   13.3%   8.9% 
Number of revenue generating professionals (at period end)    551    566    551    566  
 
(1) Revenues less direct cost of revenues
 
(2) Gross profit as a percent of revenues
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $9.9 million, or 18.6%, to $43.4 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $53.3 million for the same prior year
period, which included a 7.3% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation impact,
revenues decreased by $6.0 million, or 11.3%, predominantly due to a decrease in pass-through income, with the remainder of decrease coming from lower
project based revenues in our North America and EMEA regions and decrease in retainer based revenues in our North America region, partially offset by
growth in project based revenues in our Asia Pacific region.

Gross profit decreased $2.4 million, or 12.9%, to $16.0 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $18.4 million for the same prior year
period. Gross profit margin increased 2.4 percentage points to 36.9% for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 from 34.5% for the same prior year period. The
increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to improved revenue mix with a lower proportion of revenues coming from low margin pass-through
income.

SG&A expense decreased $2.3 million, or 17.9%, to $10.7 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $13.1 million for the same prior
year period. SG&A expense was 24.8% of revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, slightly up from 24.6% of revenue for the same prior year period. The
decrease in SG&A was primarily due to reduced overhead staff costs, lower corporate overhead allocations and occupancy costs, partially offset by higher
bad debt expense.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA decreased $0.2 million, or 3.5%, to $5.6 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 compared to $5.8 million for the same
prior year period, which included a 7.4% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency
translation impact the Adjusted Segment EBITDA increased by $0.2 million.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $11.0 million, or 11.4%, to $85.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $96.5 million for the same prior
year period, which included a 7.1% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency translation
impact, revenues decreased by $4.1 million, or 4.3%, due to decrease in lower margin pass-through income.

Gross profit decreased $2.0 million, or 5.9%, to $31.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $33.8 million for the same prior
year period. Gross profit margin increased 2.1 percentage points to 37.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 from 35.0% for the same prior year period.
The increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to improved revenue mix with lower proportion of revenues coming from low margin pass-through
income, lower headcount and staff costs.

SG&A expense decreased $5.0 million, or 19.2%, to $21.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $26.2 million for the same
prior year period. SG&A expense was 24.8% of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2015, down from 27.2% of revenue for the same prior year period.
The decrease in SG&A was primarily due to lower occupancy costs in EMEA, lower corporate allocations, compensation costs and legal fees.

Adjusted Segment EBITDA increased $2.8 million, or 32.9%, to $11.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $8.6 million for the
same prior year period, which included a 8.6% decrease from the estimated negative impact of foreign currency translation. Excluding the foreign currency
translation impact the Adjusted Segment EBITDA increased by $3.6 million, or by 41.6%.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our condensed consolidated financial statements, which we
have prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. We evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts, goodwill, income taxes and
contingencies on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. These results form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The accounting policies that reflect our more significant
estimates, judgments and assumptions and which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results
include the following:
 

 •  Revenue recognition
 

 •  Allowance for doubtful accounts and unbilled services
 

 •  Goodwill and other intangible assets
 

 •  Business combinations
 

 •  Share-based compensation
 

 •  Income taxes

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from the information provided in Part II, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Critical Accounting Policies,” as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on February 23, 2015.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

On a quarterly basis, we monitor the key drivers of fair value to detect events or other changes that would warrant an interim impairment test of our
goodwill and intangible assets. Factors we consider important which could trigger an interim impairment review include, but are not limited to the following:
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results; a significant change in the manner of our use of the acquired asset or
strategy for our overall business; a significant negative industry or economic trend; and our market capitalization relative to net book value. When we
evaluate these factors and determine that a triggering event has occurred, we perform an interim impairment analysis.

As of October 1, 2014, the date of our last annual goodwill impairment test, the fair value of all of our reporting units substantially exceeded their
respective carrying values. Through our quarterly assessment, we determined that there were no events or circumstances that more likely than not would
reduce the fair value of any of our reporting units below their carrying value.

There can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions used in our goodwill impairment testing will prove to be accurate predictions of the
future. If our assumptions regarding forecasted cash flows are not achieved, we may be required to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment
analysis prior to our next annual impairment test. In addition, if the aforementioned factors have the effect of changing one of the critical assumptions or
estimates we use to calculate the value of our goodwill or intangible assets, we may be required to record goodwill and/or intangible asset impairment charges
in future periods, whether in connection with our next annual impairment test or if a triggering event occurs outside of the quarter during which the
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annual goodwill impairment test is performed. It is not possible at this time to determine if any future impairment charge would result or, if it does, whether
such charge would be material.

SIGNIFICANT NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2015-03, Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements. ASU 2015-03 requires an entity to present
such costs in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Amortization of the costs will continue to be
reported as interest expense. It is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The new guidance
will be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented. We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated
balance sheets.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, or ASU 2014-09, which requires a company to recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods
or services. On July 9, 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of the standard by one year which would result in the new standard being effective for the
Company at the beginning of its first quarter of fiscal year 2018. We have not evaluated the impact of the new standard, including possible transition
alternatives, on the Company’s financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows
 
   Six Months Ended  
   June 30,  
   2015   2014  
   (dollars in thousands)  
Net cash used in operating activities   $(30,731)  $(77,104) 
Net cash used in investing activities   $(18,045)  $(37,395) 
Net cash provided by financing activities   $ 7,669   $ 3,630  
DSO    104    108  

We have generally financed our day-to-day operations, capital expenditures and acquisition-related contingent payments through cash flows from
operations. Generally, during our first quarter of each fiscal year, our cash needs exceed our cash flows from operations due to the payments of annual
incentive compensation and acquisition-related contingent payments. Our operating cash flows generally exceed our cash needs subsequent to the first quarter
of each year.

Our operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of billed and unbilled accounts receivable, notes receivable from employees, accounts payable,
accrued expenses and accrued compensation expense. The timing of billings and collections of receivables as well as payments for compensation
arrangements affect the changes in these balances.

DSO is a performance measure used to assess how quickly revenues are collected by the Company. We calculate DSO at the end of each reporting
period by dividing net accounts receivable reduced by billings in excess of services provided, by revenue for the quarter, adjusted for changes in foreign
exchange rates. We multiply the result by the number of days in the quarter. Our DSO typically reaches its lowest point at December 31st each year and has
consistently increased during the following quarters.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Cash used in operating activities decreased $46.4 million, or 60.1%, to $30.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to $77.1 million
for the same prior year period, primarily as a result of higher
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cash collections and a decrease in the funding of forgivable loans. DSO, which is one measure of the collections cycle, was 104 days at June 30, 2015
compared to 108 days at June 30, 2014 reflecting improved collections.

Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 was $18.0 million compared to net cash used in investing activities of
$37.4 million for the same prior year period. Payments for acquisitions completed during the six months ended June 30, 2015 were $0.6 million, net of cash
received, compared to $1.0 million for the same prior year period. There were no payments of acquisition related contingent consideration for the six months
ended June 30, 2015, compared to $14.6 million for the same prior year period. Capital expenditures were $17.5 million for the six months ended June 30,
2015 compared to $21.8 million for the same prior year period.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2015 was $7.7 million compared to $3.6 million for the same prior year
period. Cash provided by financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2015 was primarily related to $8.7 million in cash received from the issuance
of common stock under our equity compensation plans and $2.4 million of refundable deposits related to one of our foreign entities offset by the payment of
$3.1 million in debt financing fees related to the 2015 Credit Facility. Our financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2014 included payments of
$4.4 million to settle repurchases of the Company’s common stock that were made but not settled in the fourth quarter of 2013 and the receipt of
$11.6 million of refundable deposits related to one of our foreign entities.

Capital Resources

On June 26, 2015, we entered into the five-year $550.0 million 2015 Credit Facility, which effectively amended and extended our prior Credit Facility,
dated November 27, 2012. We did not incur any early termination or prepayment penalties in connection with the replacement of the prior Credit Facility.
Borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility may be used as permitted under the terms of the 2015 Credit Facility to finance working capital, for capital
expenditures and for other general corporate purposes, to repay or redeem existing debt, including under the Company’s existing credit facilities or senior
notes, and for permitted acquisitions.

As of June 30, 2015, our capital resources included $240.0 million of cash and cash equivalents and available borrowing capacity of $548.6 million
under our 2015 Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2015, we had no outstanding borrowings under our 2015 Credit Facility and $1.4 million of outstanding letters
of credit, which reduced the availability of borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility. We use letters of credit primarily in lieu of security deposits for our
leased office facilities.

The Company currently intends, on or before October 1, 2015 and subject to market conditions and other factors, to retire its $400.0 million of 6.75%
Notes due 2020 (the “2020 Notes”), funded by a combination of approximately $275.0 million of borrowings under the 2015 Credit Facility and
approximately $140.0 million of cash on hand. While this is its current intention, the Company is not providing a notice of redemption or otherwise making
an irrevocable commitment to retire the 2020 Notes as described above, and any such decision will, among other things, be subject to further review and final
approval by the Company’s Board of Directors. There can be no assurance that the Company will decide to retire the 2020 Notes in the manner described
above or at all. Should the Company retire the 2020 Notes, on or before October 1, 2015, it estimates it would incur a charge for early retirement of debt,
including remaining unamortized issuance expenses of approximately $19.0 million before taxes.

Future Capital Needs

We anticipate that our future capital needs will principally consist of funds required for:
 

 •  operating and general corporate expenses relating to the operation of our businesses;
 

 •  capital expenditures, primarily for information technology equipment, office furniture and leasehold improvements;
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 •  debt service requirements, including interest payments on our long-term debt;
 

 •  retirement of long-term debt;
 

 •  compensating designated executive management and senior managing directors under our various long-term incentive compensation programs;
 

 •  contingent obligations related to our acquisitions;
 

 •  potential acquisitions of businesses that would allow us to diversify or expand our service offerings; and
 

 •  other known future contractual obligations.

For the full fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, we anticipate aggregate capital expenditures will range between $33 million and $37 million to
support our organization, including direct support for specific client engagements. Our estimate takes into consideration the needs of our existing businesses
but does not include the impact of any purchases that we make as a result of future acquisitions or specific client engagements that are not currently
contemplated. Our capital expenditure requirements may change if our staffing levels or technology needs change significantly from what we currently
anticipate, if we purchase additional equipment specifically to support a client engagement or if we pursue and complete additional acquisitions.

For business combinations consummated on or after January 1, 2009, contingent consideration obligations are recorded as liabilities on our Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets and remeasured to fair value at each subsequent reporting date with an offset to current period earnings. The fair value of future
expected contingent purchase price obligations for these business combinations is $4.4 million at June 30, 2015 with payment dates extending through 2018.

For the last several years, our cash flows from operations have exceeded our cash needs for capital expenditures and debt service requirements. We
believe that our cash flows from operations, supplemented by short-term borrowings under our bank credit facility, as necessary, will provide adequate cash to
fund our long-term cash needs from normal operations for at least the next twelve months.

Our conclusion that we will be able to fund our cash requirements by using existing capital resources and cash generated from operations does not take
into account the impact of any future acquisition transactions or any unexpected significant changes in the number of employees or other expenditures that are
currently not contemplated. The anticipated cash needs of our businesses could change significantly if we pursue and complete additional business
acquisitions, if our business plans change, if economic conditions change from those currently prevailing or from those now anticipated, or if other
unexpected circumstances arise that have a material effect on the cash flow or profitability of our business. Any of these events or circumstances, including
any new business opportunities, could involve significant additional funding needs in excess of the identified currently available sources and could require us
to raise additional debt or equity funding to meet those needs. Our ability to raise additional capital, if necessary, is subject to a variety of factors that we
cannot predict with certainty, including:
 

 •  our future profitability;
 

 •  the quality of our accounts receivable;
 

 •  our relative levels of debt and equity;
 

 •  the volatility and overall condition of the capital markets; and
 

 •  the market prices of our securities.

Any new debt funding, if available, may be on terms less favorable to us than our bank credit facility or the indentures that govern our 63/ 4% Senior
Notes Due 2020 and 6.0% Senior Notes Due 2022. See “—Forward-Looking Statements” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and “Risk Factors” included
in Part I—Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than operating leases, and we have not entered into any transactions involving unconsolidated
subsidiaries or special purpose entities.

Future Contractual Obligations

There have been no significant changes in our future contractual obligations information as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that involve uncertainties and risks. Forward-looking
statements include statements concerning our plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future events, future revenues, future results and performance, future capital
expenditures, expectations, plans or intentions relating to acquisitions and other matters, business trends and other information that is not historical. Forward-
looking statements often contain words such as estimates, expects, anticipates, projects, plans, intends, believes, forecasts and variations of such words or
similar expressions. All forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, management’s examination of historical operating trends, are based upon
our historical performance and our current plans, estimates and expectations at the time we make them and various assumptions. There can be no assurance
that management’s expectations, beliefs and projections will result or be achieved. Our actual financial results, performance or achievements could differ
materially from those expressed in, or implied by, any forward-looking statements. The inclusion of any forward-looking information should not be regarded
as a representation by us or any other person that the future plans, estimates or expectations contemplated by us will be achieved. Given these risks,
uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in,
or implied by, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements we make in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” included in Part I—Item 1A of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements we make in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include the following:
 

 •  changes in demand for our services;
 

 •  our ability to attract and retain qualified professionals and senior management;
 

 •  conflicts resulting in our inability to represent certain clients;
 

 •  our former employees joining or forming competing businesses;
 

 •  our ability to manage our professionals’ utilization and billing rates and maintain or increase the pricing of our services and products;
 

 •  our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate favorable terms, take advantage of opportunistic acquisition situations and
integrate the operations of acquisitions as well as the costs of integration;

 

 •  our ability to adapt to and manage the risks associated with operating in non-U.S. markets;
 

 •  our ability to replace key personnel, including senior managers and practice and regional leaders who have highly specialized skills and
experience;

 

 •  our ability to protect the confidentiality of internal and client data and proprietary and confidential information;
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 •  legislation or judicial rulings, including rulings regarding data privacy and the discovery process;
 

 •  periodic fluctuations in revenues, operating income and cash flows;
 

 •  damage to our reputation as a result of claims involving the quality of our services;
 

 •  fee discounting or renegotiation, lower pricing, less advantageous contract terms and unexpected terminations of client engagements;
 

 •  competition for clients and key personnel;
 

 •  general economic factors, industry trends, restructuring and bankruptcy rates, legal or regulatory requirements, capital market conditions, merger
and acquisition activity, major litigation activity and other events outside of our control;

 

 •  our ability to manage growth;
 

 •  risk of non-payment of receivables;
 

 •  the amount and terms of our outstanding indebtedness;
 

 •  risks relating to the obsolescence of, changes to, or the protection of, our proprietary software products and intellectual property rights; and
 

 •  fluctuations in the mix of our services and the geographic locations in which our clients are located or our services are rendered.

There may be other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf apply only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are expressly qualified in their entirety
by the cautionary statements included herein. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent
events or circumstances and do not intend to do so.

 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

For information regarding our exposure to certain market risks see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. There have been no significant changes in our market risk exposure during the period
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and
procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was made
under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) were effective to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported
and (b) included, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the quarter ended June 30, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, we are subject to claims, asserted or unasserted, or named as a party to lawsuits or investigations.
Litigation, in general, and intellectual property and securities litigation in particular, can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations.
Moreover, the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with any certainty and in the case of more complex legal proceedings such as intellectual
property and securities litigation, the results are difficult to predict at all. We are not aware of any asserted or unasserted legal proceedings or claims that we
believe would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of our operations.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors

There has been no material change in any risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 23, 2015. We may disclose changes to risk factors or disclose additional factors
from time to time in our future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations.

 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Unregistered sales of equity securities.

None

Repurchases of our common stock.

The following table provides information with respect to purchases we made of our common stock during the second quarter ended June 30, 2015 (in
thousands, except per share amounts).
 

   

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased(1)   

Average
Price

Paid Per
Share    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced
Program(2)    

Approximate
Dollar Value That

May Yet Be
Purchased Under

the Program  
April 1 through April 30, 2015    214     37.59     —    $ —  
May 1 through May 31, 2015    3,171     39.64     —    $ —  
June 1 through June 30, 2015    6,539     40.50     —    $ —  

                 

Total    9,924       —    $ —  
                 

 
1) Represents shares of common stock withheld to cover payroll tax withholdings related to the lapse of restrictions on restricted stock.
 

2) The Company’s stock repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in June 2012 terminated on June 5, 2014.

 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable

 
Item 5. Other Information.

None
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Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description

3.1
  

Articles of Incorporation of FTI Consulting, Inc., as amended and restated. (Filed with the SEC on May 23, 2003 as an exhibit to FTI
Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 21, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)

3.2
  

Articles of Amendment of FTI Consulting, Inc. (Filed with the SEC on June 2, 2011 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K dated June 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)

3.3
  

Bylaws of FTI Consulting, Inc., as amended and restated on June 1, 2011 (Filed with the SEC on June 2, 2011 as an exhibit to FTI
Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)

3.4

  

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of FTI Consulting, Inc. (Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 16, 2013 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 13, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

3.5

  

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of FTI Consulting, Inc. (Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 22, 2014 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 17, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.1*

  

The FTI Consulting, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated Effective as of June 3, 2015). (Filed as
Appendix A to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 21, 2015 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.2**

  

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2015, among FTI Consulting, Inc., the designated borrowers party thereto, the guarantors party
thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent. (Filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 30, 2015 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 26, 2015 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.3**

  

Security Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2015, by and among FTI Consulting, Inc., the other grantors party thereto and Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent. (Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2015 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 26, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3**

  

Pledge Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2015, by and among FTI Consulting, Inc., the other pledgors party thereto and Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent. (Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2015 as an exhibit to FTI Consulting,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 26, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.4†*  Employment Letter dated May 14, 2015 between FTI Consulting, Inc. and Curtis Lu

31.1†
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

31.2†
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.1†   Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).
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Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description

32.2†   Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

101†

  

The following financial information from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FTI Consulting, Inc. for the quarter ended June 30, 2015,
filed herewith, and formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income; (iii) Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows;
and (v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

*   Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

**

  

With certain exceptions that were specified at the time of initial filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission, exhibits, schedules (or
similar attachments) are not filed with the SEC. FTI Consulting, Inc. will furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted exhibit or schedule
to the SEC upon request.

†   Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: July 30, 2015
 

FTI CONSULTING, INC.

By /s/ Catherine M. Freeman
 Catherine M. Freeman

 
Senior Vice President, Controller and

Chief Accounting Officer
 (principal accounting officer)
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Exhibit 10.4
 

  Human Resources Department

May 14, 2015

Mr. Curtis Lu
1203 Stonnell Place
Alexandria, VA 22302

Re: Offer of Employment

Dear Curtis:

We are delighted to extend to you the following Offer of Employment at FTI Consulting, Inc. (the “Company”). Subject to Board and Compensation
Committee approval, the terms of your employment will be as follows:
 

 1. Position. General Counsel
 

 
2. Base Salary. You will be classified as a full-time, exempt, regular employee at an annualized base salary of $500,000 per year which will be paid in

bi-weekly increments of $19,230.77, minus taxes and withholdings.
 

 

3. Bonus Opportunity. Subject to Board approval and beginning in 2016, you will participate in the Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (“EICP”)
with bonus opportunities set annually upon achievement of corporate and individual goals. Your target bonus opportunity shall be 100% of Base
Salary and maximum bonus opportunity shall be 150% of Base Salary. You must be employed on the bonus payment date to earn any such bonus. To
the extent consistent with the form of bonus payments made to other executives of the Company, your annual bonus, if any, may be paid by paying
two-thirds in cash and one-third in the form of time-vesting restricted stock if available.

 

 

4. Annual LTIP Award. Subject to Board approval and beginning in 2016, you shall participate in the Company’s Executive long-term incentive
program applicable to senior executives (the “LTIP”) and will have an expected annual LTIP target opportunity of $500,000, valued in accordance
with the Committee practice. The actual LTIP award granted and the terms and conditions of any LTIP award shall be subject to the discretion of the
Committee and may be settled through cash or stock; provided that the terms and conditions of any LTIP award shall be the same as for similar
awards made contemporaneously to any senior executive officers of the Company.

 

 

5. Signing Bonus. Subject to Compensation Committee approval, FTI shall provide you with a sign on package valued at $200,000 which will consist
of $100,000 cash payable upon the commencement of your employment and shares of restricted common stock of FTI valued at $100,000.00 based
on the closing share price as of the date of grant. The date of grant for the restricted stock award shall not be prior to the date that you first commence
employment with the Company. Should your employment with the company terminate for any reason other than termination without cause or
termination by you with good reason prior to your first anniversary, the cash bonus will be repayable. The restricted stock award shall vest on the
first anniversary of the grant date. In the event of your termination without cause or termination by you with good reason, the unvested portions of
the restricted stock award will immediately vest. All other terms, including vesting terms on other termination events, shall be consistent with the
Company’s general form of restricted stock award agreements, as the case may be.
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6. 2015 Bonus: in lieu of participation in the Bonus Opportunity and LTIP award for 2015 and subject to Board approval, FTI shall provide you with a

cash bonus valued at $400,000 which amount will be payable no later than March 2016 in accordance with standard procedure for payment of annual
bonuses.

 

 
7. Paid Time Off. You will be entitled to five weeks of paid time off annually. Paid time off is not an accrued benefit and unused time is not rolled over

from year to year or paid out upon employment termination.
 

 
8. Benefits. Effective the first of the month following your start date (or effective that day if your start date is on the first of a month), you will be

eligible to participate in FTI’s group health benefit plan. Additionally, you will be eligible to participate in FTI’s 401(k) plan effective immediately
following your first day of employment with the firm. More details are provided within the Employee Benefits Summary.

 

 9. Payments on Termination of Employment.
 

 
a. Termination by Company for Cause or by Employee Without Good Reason. If Company terminates Employee’s employment for Cause or if

Employee resigns without Good Reason, Company will promptly, no later than 30 days from the date of such termination of employment,
pay to Employee:

 

 i. the unpaid amount, if any, of Employee’s Base Salary through the effective date of termination;
 

 ii. the amount of any substantiated but previously unreimbursed business expenses incurred through the date of termination; and
 

 
iii. any additional entitlements, if any, to which Employee is entitled under the terms of this Offer or any Company benefit plan or

arrangement in which Employee was a participant.

The aggregate of the amounts described in Section 9(a)(i) through Section 9(a)(iii) hereunder shall be referred to in this Agreement as the
“Accrued Compensation”.

 

 
b. Termination by Company Without Cause or by Employee for Good Reason. If Company terminates Employee’s employment without Cause

(defined below) or Employee resigns for Good Reason (defined below), Employee will be entitled to receive the following payments and
benefits:

 

 i. any Accrued Compensation, which amount shall be paid in a lump sum within 30 days of the date of termination;
 

 

ii. continued payment of Employee’s Base Salary for the salary continuation period specified below (the “Salary Continuation Period”);
provided that such amount shall be increased to one times the sum of Employee’s (i) Base Salary plus (ii) Target bonus for the year of
termination if such termination occurs during the 18-month period after a Change in Control (as defined in the Company’s 2009
Omnibus Incentive Plan); and

 

 

iii. continuing group health and group life insurance coverage for Employee and, where applicable, Employee’s spouse and eligible
dependents (“Benefit Continuation Coverage”) during the Salary Continuation Period at the same benefit and contribution levels in
effect from time to time with respect to active similarly situated employees of Company or FTI. If and to the extent such Benefit
Continuation Coverage is not permitted by the applicable plan or by applicable law, Employee will instead be entitled to cash
payments sufficient to
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reimburse Employee and/or Employee’s spouse and eligible dependents, on an after tax basis, for the actual cost of comparable
individual or other replacement coverage through the end of the Salary Continuation Period. The group health portion of Benefit
Continuation Coverage will be in addition to and not in lieu of COBRA continuation coverage. The Company may modify its
obligations under this Section 9(b) to the extent reasonably necessary to avoid any penalty or excise taxes imposed on it in connection
with the continued payment of premiums by the Company under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended
(“PPACA”).

For purposes hereof, Good Reason shall mean

(i) a material adverse change in Employee’s title, duties or responsibilities (including reporting responsibilities);

(ii) a material reduction in Employee’s Base Salary;

(iii) a required relocation of Employee’s principal office by more than 50 miles from his office location in Washington, D.C.; or

(iv) any failure to assign to a successor to the business and substantially all assets of the Company, and of such successor to assume, the obligations of the
Company under all applicable plans and agreements with Employee; provided that Good Reason shall not exist unless and until Employee provides the Company
with written notice thereof within ninety (90) days of the date Employee knows or should have known about the initial occurrence of such event, the Company
fails to cure such acts within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice and Employee terminates employment within thirty (30) days following the expiration of
such cure period, otherwise grounds for Good Reason on account of such occurrence shall lapse.

For Purposes hereof, the following events constitute Cause: If Employee

(i) is convicted of or pleads nolo contendere to a felony;

(ii) commits fraud with respect to, or misappropriates any funds or property of, the Company or any affiliate, customer or client of the Company;

(iii) engages in any act or omission which is in material violation of any material policy of the Company;

(iv) engages in willful material misconduct or gross negligence in connection with the performance of his duties;

(v) substantially fails to perform his material duties after written request for such performance from the Board;

(vi) continues to fail to reasonably cooperate in any audit or investigation regarding the Company or its business practices after written request for such
performance from the Board; or

(vii) engages in any material misconduct that significantly adversely affects, or is likely to significantly adversely affect, the business or reputation of the
Company. Employee’s termination for Cause will be effective
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immediately upon the Company’s mailing or transmitting written notice of such termination. For purposes of sub-clause (iv) above, no act or omission shall be
“willful” if such conduct was in good faith and with a reasonable belief that such act or omission was in the best interests of the Company.
 

 

c. General Release. Employee (or Employee’s estate or other beneficiary) shall provide FTI with an executed and effective general release (the
“Release”) of all claims arising under this Offer of Employment or arising out of Employee’s employment relationship with FTI, in a form
acceptable to FTI, and such Release must be executed by the Employee and no longer subject to revocation within sixty (60) days of the
Employee’s final day of employment, as a condition of receipt of any salary continuation, accelerated vesting of such options or other equity
awards, or continued benefits pursuant to this Section 9. Any amounts payable pursuant to this Section 9 shall not be paid until the first
scheduled payment date following the date the Release is executed and no longer subject to revocation, with the first such payment being in
an amount equal to the total amount to which Employee would otherwise have been entitled during the period following the date of
termination if such deferral had not been required; provided, however, that to the extent that any such payments constitute “nonqualified
deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, and the sixty (60) day period following the Employee’s final day of
employment begins in one taxable year of the Employee and ends in a second taxable year, then such payment will be made in the second
taxable year to the extent necessary to avoid the adverse tax consequences under Code Section 409A, and, if such payments are required to
be so deferred, the first payment shall be in an amount equal to the total amount to which Employee would otherwise have been entitled
during the period following the date of termination if such deferral had not been required.

 

 

10. Non-Competition Covenants. Recognizing that Employee is receiving substantial compensation and access to FTI confidential information,
Employee acknowledges that during the Restricted Period (defined below), Employee will not, directly or indirectly, be employed by (where
Employee’s employment would involve any level of strategic, advisory, technical, creative, sales, or other similar input), lend money to, invest in, or
engage in a Competing Business (defined below) in any Market Area (defined below). This prohibition includes, but is not limited to, acting, either
singly or jointly or as agent for, or as an employee of or consultant or independent contractor to, any one or more persons, firms, entities, or
corporations directly or indirectly (as a director, independent contractor, representative, consultant, member, or otherwise) in such Competing
Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) Employee may own up to five percent (5%) of the outstanding capital stock of any corporation or other
entity that is publicly traded, and (b) following the termination of Employee’s employment hereunder, Employee may provide services as an officer,
consultant, employee, director, partner or otherwise to an entity engaged in multiple business lines (including a business line that is a Competing
Business) provided that the business line(s) for which Employee provides services is not a Competing Business.

 

 
11. Non-solicitation Covenants. During the Restricted Period (defined below), Employee will not, directly or indirectly, whether for Employee or for

any other individual or entity (other than Company), intentionally:
 

 a. solicit business regarding any case or matter about which Employee was aware during the term of your employment;
 

 
b. solicit any person or entity who is a client of the Company’s business within a twenty-four (24) month period of time immediately prior to

the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company; or
 

 
c. solicit, induce or otherwise attempt to influence any person who the Company employs or otherwise engages to perform services including,

but not limited to, any employees, independent
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consultants, engineers, or sales representatives, or any contractor, subcontractor, supplier, or vendor of the Company, to leave the employ of
or discontinue providing services to the Company, provided, however, that this restriction will not apply in the case of any clerical employee
of the Company or in the case of any other employee whose employment with the Company has been terminated for at least one (1) year.

 

 

12. Confidential Information of Company. Employee’s association with Company under this Offer of Employment has given and will give Employee
access to Confidential Information (defined below) not generally known outside of Company that may be of value to Company or that has been given
to Company in confidence by third parties. Employee acknowledges and agrees that using, disclosing, or publishing any Confidential Information in
an unauthorized or improper manner could cause Company substantial loss and damages that could not be readily calculated and for which no
remedy at law would be adequate. Accordingly, Employee will not at any time, except in performing the duties of Employee’s employment under
this Offer of Employment (or with the prior written consent of the FTI Board of Directors or Senior Management), directly or indirectly, use,
disclose, or publish any Confidential Information that Employee may learn or become aware of, or may have learned or have become aware of
because of Employee’s association with Company, or use any such Confidential Information in a manner that is or may reasonably be likely to be
detrimental to the business of Company. For the purposes hereof, the term “Confidential Information” includes, without limitation, information not
previously disclosed to the public or to the trade by Company with respect to its or their present or future business, operations, services, products,
research, inventions, discoveries, drawings, designs, plans, processes, models, technical information, facilities, methods, trade secrets, copyrights,
software, source code, systems, patents, procedures, manuals, specifications, any other intellectual property, confidential reports, price lists, pricing
formulas, customer lists, financial information, business plans, lease structure, projections, prospects, or opportunities or strategies, acquisitions or
mergers, advertising or promotions, personnel matters, legal matters, proposals, response to any request for proposal, any other confidential and
proprietary information, and any other information not generally known outside Company that may be of value to Company, but excludes any
information already properly in the public domain. Confidential Information also includes confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets
that third parties entrust to FTI or Company in confidence. Confidential Information shall not include any information that (i) has been properly
published in a form generally available to the public prior to the date Employee proposes to disclose or use such information or otherwise is or
becomes public knowledge through legal means without fault by Employee, (ii) is already public knowledge prior to the signing of this Offer,
(iii) was disclosed by the Employee in the proper performance of the Employee’s duties hereunder, or (iv) must be disclosed pursuant to applicable
law, court order or pursuant to the request of a governmental authority. Information shall not be deemed to have been published merely because
individual portions of the information have been separately published, but only if all material features comprising such information have been
published in combination. Employee understands and agrees that the rights and obligations set forth in this Section will continue indefinitely and will
survive termination of Employee’s employment with Company.

 

 

13. Confidential Information of Others. Employee will not use in working for Company and will not disclose to Company any trade secrets or other
information Employee does not have the right to use or disclose and that Company is not free to use without liability of any kind. Employee will
promptly inform Company in writing of any patents, copyrights, trademarks, or other proprietary rights known to Employee that Company may
violate because of information provided to it by Employee.

 

 
14. Property Rights. Employee confirms that all Confidential Information is and must remain the exclusive property of Company. All business records,

business papers, and business documents kept or created by Employee in the course of Employee’s employment by Company relating to the business
of
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Company must be and remain the property of Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee may retain Employee’s rolodex, palm pilot or
similar device, and solely the personal non-business information stored thereon, to the extent such device does not contain Confidential Information
or other property belonging to Company (written or otherwise) not otherwise in the public domain. Employee will not retain copies, excerpts,
summaries, or compilations of the foregoing information and materials following the termination of employment. The rights and obligations set forth
in this Section will survive for a period of two (2) years following the termination of Employee’s employment with Company.

 

 15. Intellectual Property.
 

 

a. All records, in whatever media, documents, papers, inventions and notebooks, drawings, designs, technical information, source code, object
code, processes, methods or other copyrightable or otherwise protected works Employee conceives, creates, makes, invents or discovers or
that otherwise relate to any work Employee performs or performed for Company or that arise from the use or assistance of Company’s
facilities, materials, personnel or Confidential Information in the course of Employee’s employment (whether or not during usual working
hours), whether conceived, created, discovered, made or invented individually or jointly with others, will, together with all the worldwide
patent, copyright, trade secret, or other intellectual property rights in all such works, be and remain the absolute property of Company.
Employee irrevocably and unconditionally waives all rights that may otherwise vest in Employee’s authorship (on or after the date of
employment) in connection with Employee’s authorship of any such copyrightable works in the course of Employee’s employment with
Company, wherever in the world enforceable. Without limitation, Employee waives the right to be identified as the author of any such works
and the right not to have any such works subjected to derogatory treatment. Employee recognizes any such works are “works for hire” of
which Company is the author.

 

 

b. Subject to Section 15(d), Employee will promptly disclose, grant and assign ownership to Company for its sole use and benefit any and all
ideas, processes, inventions, discoveries, improvements, technical information, and copyrightable works (whether patentable or not) that
Employee develops, acquires, conceives or reduces to practice (whether or not during usual working hours) while employed by Company.
Subject to Section 15(d), Employee will promptly disclose and hereby grants and assigns ownership to Company of all patent applications,
letters patent, utility and design patents, copyrights and reissues thereof, or any foreign equivalents thereof, that may at any time be filed or
granted for or upon any such invention, improvement, or information. In connection therewith:

 

 

i. Employee will, without charge but at Company’s expense, promptly execute and deliver such applications, assignments, descriptions
and other instruments as Company may consider reasonable, necessary or proper to vest title to any such inventions, discoveries,
improvements, technical information, patent applications, patents, copyrightable work or reissues thereof in Company and to enable it
to obtain and maintain the entire worldwide right and title thereto; and

 

 

ii. Employee will provide to Company at its expense all such assistance as Company may reasonably require in the prosecution of
applications for such patents, copyrights or reissues thereof, in the prosecution or defense of interferences that may be declared
involving any such applications, patents or copyrights and in any litigation in which Company may be involved relating to any such
patents, inventions, discoveries, improvements, technical information or copyrightable works or reissues thereof. Company will
reimburse Employee for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred and pay Employee reasonable compensation
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(at a rate not less than the last prevailing fixed compensation rate received by the Employee during Employee’s employment
hereunder) for Employee’s time if Company no longer employs Employee.

 

 

c. To the extent, if any, that Employee owns rights to works, inventions, discoveries, proprietary information, and copyrighted or copyrightable
works, or other forms of intellectual property that are incorporated in the work product Employee creates for Company, Employee agrees
that Company will have an unrestricted, nonexclusive, royalty-free, perpetual, transferable license to make, use, sell, offer for sale, and
sublicense such works and property in whatever form, and Employee hereby grants such license to Company.

 

 

d. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 15 (relating to records, documents, papers, inventions, notebooks, source code, object code,
processes, methods, patent applications, letters patent, processes, inventions, discoveries, improvements, technical information, ideas,
copyrightable works, copyrights and reissues thereof, and other intellectual property described above, together with any foreign equivalents
thereof (each, an “IP Asset”) )shall not apply to any IP Asset for which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information of
Company (including any of its predecessors) was used and that was developed entirely on Employee’s own time, unless (a) the IP Asset
relates (i) directly to the business of Company, or (ii) Company’s actual or anticipated research or development, or (b) the IP Asset results
from any work Employee performed as an employee of Company.

 

 16. Definitions. For purposes of Sections 10 through 15, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below:
 

 

a. Restricted Period. For purposes hereof, the term “Restricted Period” means the period beginning on the date of the signing of this offer and
ending on the date that is twelve months from employee’s date of termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Period will
terminate immediately upon the breach by the Company of its obligations under this Offer of Employment. The duration of the Restricted
Period will be extended by the amount of any and all periods that Employee violates the covenants of any of Sections 10 and 11.

 

 b. Salary Continuation Period. Twelve months
 

 
c. Competing Business. For the purposes hereof, the term “Competing Business” means consulting services, including any lines of business

actively conducted by the Company during the period of Employee’s employment with Company and at the time Employee’s employment
ends.

 

 
d. Market Area. For purposes hereof, the term “Market Area” means the area within a 50 mile radius of any location in which Company has an

office.
 

 

17. Enforceability. If any of the provisions of Sections 10 through 15 are ever deemed to exceed the time, geographic area, or activity limitations the
law permits, the limitations will be reduced to the maximum permissible limitation, and Employee and Company authorize a court or arbitrator
having jurisdiction to reform the provisions to the maximum time, geographic area, or activity limitations the law permits; provided, however, that
such reductions apply only with respect to the operation of such provision in the particular jurisdiction in which such adjudication is made.

 

 

18. Remedies. Without limiting the remedies available to the parties, each party acknowledges that a breach of any of the covenants in Sections 10
through 15 may result in material irreparable injury to Company for which there is no adequate remedy at law, and that it will not be possible to
measure damages for such injuries precisely. The parties agree that, if there is a breach or threatened breach of such covenants, Company will be
entitled to obtain a temporary restraining order and/or a preliminary or permanent injunction restraining Employee from engaging in prohibited
activities or such other
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relief as may be required to specifically enforce any of said covenants. Each party agrees that all remedies expressly provided for in this Offer of
Employment are cumulative of any and all other remedies now existing at law or in equity. In addition to the remedies provided herein, the parties
will be entitled to avail themselves of all such other remedies as may now or hereafter exist at law or in equity for compensation, and for the specific
enforcement of the covenants contained in Sections 11 through 16. Resorting to any remedy provided for in this Section or provided for by law will
not prevent the concurrent or subsequent employment of any other appropriate remedy or remedies, or preclude a recovery of monetary damages and
compensation.

 

 
19. Employment at Will. You will be an employee-at-will. Employment may be terminated by either party for any reason at any time, with or without

cause.
 

 20. Section 409A Compliance.
 

 

a. General. If Employee notifies the Company (with specificity as to the reason therefor) that Employee believes that any provision of this
Offer Letter (or of any award of compensation or benefits) would cause Employee to incur any additional tax or interest under Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code Section 409A”) and the
Company concurs with such belief or the Company (without any obligation whatsoever to do so) independently makes such determination,
the Company shall, with the consent of Employee, reform such provision to attempt to comply with Code Section 409A through good faith
modifications to the minimum extent reasonably appropriate to conform with Code Section 409A. To the extent that any provision hereof is
modified in order to comply with Code Section 409A, such modification shall be made in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent
reasonably possible, maintain the original intent and economic benefit to Employee and the Company of the applicable provision without
violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.

 

 

b. “Separation from Service”; “Specified Employee”; Six-Month Delay. A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for
purposes of any provision of this Offer Letter providing for the payment of any amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of
employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any
such provision of this Offer Letter, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean “separation from
service.” If Employee is deemed on the date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section
409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered deferred compensation under Code
Section 409A payable on account of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the
earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of Employee, and (ii) the
date of Employee’s death. Upon the expiration of such six-month delay period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant to this Section
(whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall be paid or reimbursed
to Employee in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Offer Letter shall be paid or provided in accordance
with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.

 

 

c. Reimbursement of Expenses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Offer Letter, with respect to any reimbursement of expenses
of, or any provision of in-kind benefits to, Employee, as specified under this Offer Letter, the reimbursement of expenses or provision of in-
kind benefits shall be subject to the following conditions: (i) the expenses eligible for reimbursement or the amount of in-kind benefits
provided in one taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or the amount of in-kind benefits provided in any other
taxable year; (ii) the
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reimbursement of an eligible expense shall be made no later than the end of the taxable year after the taxable year in which such expense was
incurred; and (iii) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

 

 

d. Installment Payments: Specified Payment Periods. For purposes of Code Section 409A, the right to a series of installment payments under
this Offer Letter shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments. Whenever a payment under this Offer Letter specifies a payment
period with reference to a number of days, the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the
Company.

 

 

e. Change in Control Definition. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Offer Letter, for purposes of the payment of any deferred
compensation hereunder, an event shall not be considered to be a “Change in Control” hereunder unless such event is also a “change in
ownership,” a “change in effective control” or a “change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of the Company within the
meaning of Code Section 409A.

 

 21. Governing Law. The Offer of Employment will be governed by the laws of the state of Maryland, without regard to any conflict of laws provisions.

This offer is contingent upon your: (1) fully disclosing to FTI the terms of any prior or existing employment contracts and any limitations on your
employment with FTI, (2) stating that you have not breached any such obligation, whether expressed or implied, (3) agreeing that if such obligations do exist, you
will not knowingly or willfully violate any such terms or limitations so long as they remain in force, and (4) stating that notwithstanding any other obligation
binding on you, that you are available to start work with FTI on the agreed upon date.

We think you will find FTI Consulting a challenging and rewarding place to work and look forward to your favorable response to our offer. If you have any
questions regarding group benefits or human resources related issues, please feel free to contact me at (254)848-4084.

Sincerely,

Holly Paul
Chief Human Resources Officer

Enclosures

I hereby accept the terms of this letter as outlined above.
 

   May 19, 2015
Curtis Lu   Date
 



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

I, Steven H. Gunby, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FTI Consulting, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: July 30, 2015
 

By:  /S/ STEVEN H. GUNBY
 Steven H. Gunby
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

I, David M. Johnson, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FTI Consulting, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: July 30, 2015
 

By:  /S/ DAVID M. JOHNSON
 David M. Johnson
 Chief Financial Officer
 (principal financial officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FTI Consulting, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Steven H. Gunby, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive
officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best
of my knowledge:
 

 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: July 30, 2015
 

By:  /S/ STEVEN H. GUNBY
 Steven H. Gunby
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (principal executive officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FTI Consulting, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David M. Johnson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:
 

 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: July 30, 2015
 

By:  /S/ DAVID M. JOHNSON
 David M. Johnson
 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 (principal financial officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


